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corpor ate profile

Cytec Industries Inc. is a global specialty chemicals

and materials company. The Company’s focused

growth is based on applying technology to create

solutions in partnership with our customers. Cytec

serves major markets for water and wastewater

treatment, mineral processing, paper manufactur-

ing and recycling, automotive and industrial coat-

ings, plastics, adhesives, aerospace adhesives and

composites, and chemical intermediates.

growth str ategies

Cytec is pursuing four growth strategies for focused growth in global

markets that together provide reduced cyclicality and enable us

to leverage our core competencies. These strategies consist of:

• Global and market expansion

• New product development

• Operational excellence

• Strategic acquisitions

mission

Cytec’s mission is to enhance shareholder value through double-digit

percentage annual growth in earnings per share, while achieving a

superior return on equity.
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Structural adhesives, advanced composites

Flocculants, coagulants, filter aids, drilling
mud additives, biocides

Reagents, promoters, collectors, frothers,
flocculants, defoamers, dispersants, filter aids

Sizing agents; wet- and dry-strength resins; 
coating resins; retention, drainage, and
formation polymers; flocculants

Phosphine and phosphine derivatives for mineral
recovery and metals processing, solvent extrac-
tants, catalysts, chemical and pharmaceutical
intermediates, electronics

One of the world’s leaders

Global leader in specialty reagents

Major supplier

Global leader

Melamine crosslinkers, urea crosslinkers, 
urethane chemicals

Surfactants and acrylamide-based 
specialty monomers

Ultraviolet absorbers and stabilizers; antioxidants

Global leader in amino resin
crosslinkers for coatings 

Strong competitor

Growing internationally 

Acrylonitrile, acrylamide, ammonia,
hydrocyanic acid, melamine, sulfuric acid

Global leader in aerospace
adhesives; one of two leaders in
advanced composites

One of a few specialty chemicals
companies with significant vertical
integration
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Increased demand for clean water,
environmental regulations, regional
and global economic development,
the need to minimize waste

Requirements for increased recoveries
and yields, lower quality ores requir-
ing higher chemical usage

Alkaline papermaking, improved
quality of paper, higher paper stan-
dards, expanded use of recycled fibers,
improved paper machine reliability,
increased process water and recycling
requirements

Higher performance requirements

Shift to high-solids, water-based, and
powder coatings; higher performance
requirements; environmental factors

Higher performance requirements

Plastics replacing metal, higher
performance requirements, growth
in plastics

Acknowledged technological leader-
ship; increased use of composites
in aircraft, airframe structure, new
military programs; increased
defense spending

Acquired amino coatings resins business, commercial-
ized two crosslinking resin products and two
polyurethane coatings products

Completed successful startup of surfactants and spe-
cialty monomers plant

Relaunched unique class of UV light stabilizers for
engineered polymers; introduced novel, patented man-
ufacturing process for new triazine light stabilizers

Vertical integration and low-cost
production

factor s affecting 
growth

1999 achievements net sales and
earnings
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Increased profit and operating margins during
aerospace down cycle

Restructured operations to increase productivity

Introduced Six Sigma for process improvements

Initiated expansion into new markets

Developed new composites and water-based primer 

Sold share in methanol manufacturing joint venture to
eliminate risk in a cyclical market

Increased productivity and reduced costs despite
global overcapacity and poor economic conditions

Increased 1999 segment operating margins by
200 basis points over 1998

Significantly increased water-soluble polymers market
share in Europe and Latin America

Successfully integrated two mining chemical
acquisitions, initiated market development of new
mining depressants to broaden technology base

Developed and launched new oil-free emulsions for
paper and pharmaceutical applications

Acquired phosphine fumigants business and secured
non-food regulatory approval



Cytec subscribes to the principles of    

Responsible Care® developed by

the Chemical Manufacturers Association.

years ended december 31,

(dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 1999 1998 1997

Operating results

Net sales $1,412.5 $1,444.5 $1,290.6

Earnings from operations 185.0 185.5 119.2

Net earnings 121.3 124.7 113.6

Per share data

Diluted earnings per common share $ 2.73 $ 2.68 $ 2.39

Stockholders’ equity based on outstanding common shares 12.15 9.98 8.58

Other data

Capital additions for the year $ 77.4 $ 103.8 $ 91.4

Total assets 1,759.9 1,730.6 1,614.1

Total stockholders’ equity 505.8 431.0 387.4
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to our stockholder s

Cytec continues to be committed to its primary mission of enhancing 

shareholder value. This mission inspires our business model and growth

strategies. The resulting financial performance provides the impetus that 

drives our stock price.

In 1999 Cytec earned $2.73 per diluted common share, up from $2.68 in

1998. There were a number of one-time events in both years that affect the

comparability of 1999 and 1998 results, and these are described in the

Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of this report. The modest

financial improvement was due to significant profit erosion in our Building

Block Chemicals business, which masked major operational achievements

in our specialty businesses. 

Our achievements during the year have further strengthened Cytec.

However, in our view, Cytec’s stock price is not reflecting the value of these

achievements or our future growth potential. By fostering better 

understanding of Cytec’s strategies and prospects and by delivering the

results of those strategies, we believe that in time Cytec’s stock price will

represent the value that is being created for our stockholders.

cytec business model

Our business model capitalizes on the strengths of our core competencies.

We focus on growing in markets where we have a competitive advantage

through differentiated technology that we deliver by working with our 

customers in partnership relationships. We expect to achieve market 

leadership through a strategy of focused growth, and in many cases we 

already hold the leading market position. Cytec’s success is based on four

key strategies:

• Rapid development of new products

• Extending our global reach

• Expanding margins through operational excellence

• Enhancing our franchise businesses with strategic acquisitions

So what progress have we made with these four key strategies?

new products and technology

We invested more than $43 million in 1999 in research and development.

In recent years new products have been responsible for approximately 

15 percent of net sales. We believe that our success in introducing new
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products demonstrates our commitment to providing value-added solutions that 

satisfy the needs of our customers. 

Examples include CYLINK® 2000, a resin that imparts superior acid etch resistance

to automotive paints, and PAREZ® proprietary, temporary wet-strength resins that

are used in leading brands of consumer tissue. We are also developing a new process

technology to manufacture higher molecular weight dry polyacrylamides to increase

our market share in effluent water treatment, and we are beginning to commercialize

our thermoplastic technologies for the aerospace and defense industries.

global expansion

As developing countries expand their economies and invest in new manufacturing

facilities and products, they want the very best technologies so that they can be 

globally competitive. This presents opportunities for the proven expertise of Cytec.

In Asia, we have experienced sales growth in our Specialty Chemicals businesses in

excess of 20 percent. The polymer and plastics industry in the region is growing

annually at greater than 10 percent, and our polymer additives are demonstrating

their worth in this market. Our surfactants and coating resins are also providing

added value in established markets, such as Australia, as well as for newer producers

of coil and automotive coatings.

Europe continues to demonstrate solid economic growth, and we are well 

positioned in terms of products, plants, and people to support expansion there. Latin

American economies are having a difficult time, but we are sensibly and prudently

expanding our position in the region.

In 1999 our proportion of sales outside the United States was 43 percent, up from

31 percent in 1994. Our target is 50 percent, and we expect to consistently improve.

operational excellence

A constant value at Cytec is continuous improvement to achieve operational 

excellence. We benchmark our performance against our peers to determine the highest

standard, and then put in place programs to achieve best-in-class status.

The performance of Specialty Materials in 1999 was a tremendous example of this.

Due to the commercial aerospace market down-cycle, our sales were down 

$58 million, yet our earnings were up $4.3 million. Through resourcing from more

efficient operations, consolidating facilities, improving global purchasing, and using 
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continuous improvement techniques such as Six Sigma, our aerospace business

expanded profits and cash flow. 

In our support services, we also have many examples of improved productivity

inspired by our initiatives in financial reengineering. The reduction of our tax rate from

43 percent in 1994 to 34.5 percent in 1999 (excluding a further one-time tax benefit 

of $8 million) exceeded our stated objective. It is ample evidence of our determination

and results.

The achievements of our Circle of Excellence award winners described in this report

provide further evidence of our people’s commitment to operational excellence. 

Please take the time to read about these eloquent examples of their many successes.

enhancing our portfolio through strategic acquistions

Our strategic acquisitions and divestitures have refined and strengthened Cytec’s 

portfolio of businesses. We have adopted a disciplined approach, building on our

strengths, avoiding diversification, and ensuring that acquisitions are more accretive

to earnings than a similar investment in Cytec’s stock. 

We made two acquisitions during the year to improve our mining chemicals business.

The purchase of the industrial minerals product line of the Nottingham Company

gives us a presence in this market segment so that we can further develop our flota-

tion technologies around the world. The acquisition of Inspec Mining Chemicals

from Laporte plc gives us a greater presence in the copper industry, particularly in

the important Chilean market that produces over 40 percent of the world’s copper.

We have successfully integrated both of these operations to achieve planned 

cost reductions.

Late in 1999 we acquired the amino crosslinking resins business of BIP Limited.

This gives us a broader range of resins to market to our customers and also allows us

to consolidate global manufacturing in order to achieve significant cost synergies.

These benefits will accrue to Cytec over the next two years.

In 1999 we decided to sell our 30 percent share in our manufacturing joint venture

with Methanex to our partner. This decision was based on global overcapacity and

the availability of low-cost, imported methanol. The action is in line with our strategy

to focus our resources on the specialty elements of our business. 

We will continue to actively seek other opportunities to strengthen our portfolio

and provide both sales growth and margin expansion. These examples are only some

of our strategic successes in 1999.

our values

Safety We make safety our first

priority – the core of all we do.

Environment We are commit-

ted to protecting the health

and well-being of the commu-

nities in which we conduct

business. Employees We

respect every employee, recog-

nizing our mutual need to be

safe, healthy, and successful.

We value each other for our

diverse ideas, experiences, and

backgrounds. Empowerment

We encourage our people to be

innovative, to take action to

make independent decisions,

and to be accountable for their

actions. Leadership Each of us

strives to lead and motivate by

example and consistently live

by these core values. We coach,

train, and empower employees

to reach their full potential.

Teamwork We work as groups

and individuals toward our

common goal in a spirited and

selfless manner. Continuous

Improvement We relentlessly

pursue doing the right things

better. Technology We are

committed to providing the

resources to develop

technology that will build and

sustain our businesses. Ethics

We are fair, honest, and con-

sistent in our business and per-

sonal practices.
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management developments

In 1999 James W. Hirsch retired from his position of Vice President for Employee

Resources after 32 years of service. We thank Jim for his contributions to advancing

Cytec’s strategies and building our company values.

This year we recruited two new corporate officers. Mark S. Andrekovich joined

Cytec as Vice President of Human Resources, and William F. Cleary joined the

Company as Vice President of Investor Relations. They bring to Cytec considerable

experience for continuing our growth.

William N. Avrin, who serves Cytec as Vice President of Corporate and Business

Development, was elected a corporate officer in 1999.

board appointment

In October John E. Akitt was elected to Cytec’s Board of Directors. He is a retired

Executive Vice President of Exxon Chemical Company and serves as a Director of

Dofasco Inc., a Canadian steel company, and Georgia Gulf Corporation. His broad

operating experience in the chemical industry will be invaluable to Cytec.

outlook for 2000

We feel positive about Cytec’s prospects for 2000. The momentum established in our

Specialty Chemicals segments should continue, reinforced by the benefits of synergies

gained from our acquisitions. The Specialty Materials segment will still be impacted

by the decline in demand for large jets. However, there is a more positive outlook

developing for this industry as Asian orders for larger aircraft begin to increase. In

addition, we continue to increase our sales in the growing executive and regional 

jet markets. Improved trading conditions for Building Block Chemicals, assisted by

improved operations, should lead to a modest improvement in earnings. Also, we

believe that our joint ventures will increase their profit contributions.

Therefore, we feel that we have the ability to achieve our financial goals and increase 

our 1999 earnings per share of $2.60 (excluding unusual items) by greater than 

10 percent in 2000. However, we are not satisfied with that level of performance. 

We need to grow even faster.
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strategic review

We recently concluded a review of Cytec’s business portfolio as a key part of our

strategic discipline. We addressed the growth prospects of each business. We 

took into account the global demand, our market position, and our competitive 

capabilities. We evaluated the requirements of each business in terms of capital 

and the potential of each business to add economic value.

We determined that while all of our businesses have important contributions to

make, their differences require that we manage them in different ways. Some of our

businesses are platforms for growth, franchises with the competitive advantage to

grow organically and by extension through business development. We would expect

these units to have sales growth considerably in excess of GDP growth. These busi-

nesses need investment in research and development and possibly in capital to

increase global capacity in order to support accelerating sales growth.

Other businesses do not possess the same growth characteristics, but they still play

an essential part in achieving our financial goals. They provide value in building sales

and profit growth through greater focus on product development and manufactur-

ing productivity. The strategic imperative for these value businesses is to provide

significant positive cash flow and increase economic value.

We have consistently believed that a Cytec business must be a leader in its markets

and generate profit growth in excess of 10 percent. Otherwise, we should consider

alternative strategic options. In the case of Criterion Catalyst Company, we are 

in discussions with our partners on the future of this joint venture and have already

indicated our preference to sell our position.

My message is that we will take the necessary strategic actions to strengthen our

portfolio and accelerate earnings growth.

In closing, I would like to recognize and thank all my colleagues at Cytec for their

contributions to the Company. The challenges of 1999 have been met, and we have

taken important steps to grow your company and enhance shareholder value.

David Lilley

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer



water and industrial
process chemic als

Water-Soluble Polymers 

Phosphine Chemicals

“Our long established focus on water treatment, mineral
processing, and paper manufacturing markets has
enabled Cytec to build a global franchise in water-
soluble polymer technologies. As a result of our 
technological leadership, we continue to have growth
opportunities in Europe, Asia, and Latin America.”

“Cytec’s global leadership in phosphine technologies and
phosphine derivatives provides a solid platform for
expanding applications in diverse and attractive markets
consistent with our growth strategies. This business is
an example of the focus on technological differentiation
found throughout Cytec’s businesses.”

“Our technological innovation and applications focus in
specialty resins, surfactants, and specialty monomers
have produced superior, value-added solutions for cus-
tomers and improved the quality, performance, and
environmental attributes of their products. The technol-
ogy has provided competitive leverage to support our
global expansion.”

“High performance plastics are replacing metal, wood,
and other materials in a broad range of applications.
Cytec is a leader in developing polymer additives for
advanced plastics. As worldwide demand continues to
expand for polymer additives, we will be there to sup-
port our customers’ needs.”

Frank Wiseman

James B. Gallivan

performance products
Specialty Resins, Surfactants, and

Specialty Monomers

Polymer Additives

Myles S. Odaniell

“Even as commercial aviation experiences a cyclical
downturn, we have expanded Cytec’s market share
through the strength of our franchise and the technolog-
ical superiority of our products. We will continue our
growth by gaining qualification for new aircraft 
programs and by developing non-aviation and other
new applications for our technology.”

specialt y  materials
Adhesives and Composites

Michael Molyneux

John H. Boles

“Vertical integration provides a low-cost, secure supply
of building block chemicals. This distinguishes Cytec
from many of its competitors. Furthermore, through
the competitive advantages of risk management,
manufacturing efficiency, safety, and quality, we con-
tribute significantly to Cytec’s strategy of overall
operational excellence.”

building block 
chemic als
Vertical Integration

Jeffrey D. Leman

business presidents discuss focused
growth through technology
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applic ations: water and wa stewater treatment,  miner al  separ ation and

processing,  paper manufacturing and recycling,  electronic s,  solvent

extr action,  chemic al  and pharmaceutic al  processing

water and industrial  process chemic als

summary of  f ive-year growth str ategies

• Expand our leading global positions in water-soluble polymer (WSP) and mineral processing chemical

technologies

• Bring new and innovative WSP technologies as rapidly as possible to direct and service company 

marketing channels

• Expand production capacity and become leading global WSP supplier with best-in-class manufacturing

• Continue strengthening our position as the global solutions provider by expanding our technology-based

products and services for the mining industry

• Broaden the range of phosphine products and continue to extend applications into new and growing 

markets to accelerate growth

• Sustain global growth in functional paper chemicals with leading on-machine technologies

Improving mineral recovery,Improving mineral recovery,
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overview

In 1999 sales were $372.8 million and earnings from operations were $44.0 million. Our Water and Industrial Process

Chemicals segment serves water and wastewater treatment, mineral processing, and paper manufacturing and recycling

markets with the broadest selection of water soluble polymers in the specialty chemicals industry. We are also a key

global supplier of the specialty functional chemicals used in all basic paper manufacturing and recycling processes.

Cytec is the world’s largest supplier of specialty reagents for mineral processing. As the world leader in phosphine chem-

istry technology, Cytec also manufactures phosphine products for mineral processing, metals separation and recovery,

and electronic applications and as catalysts and intermediates for chemical and pharmaceutical processes.

global  and market expansion:  meeting the demand for cleaner water

As an example, Cytec’s water-soluble polymers were recently selected to improve the drinking water quality and waste-

water disposal efficiency in treatment plants in Monterrey, Mexico. This new project, along with a contract for treating

drinking water in Guadalajara, Mexico, leverages the capabilities of our plant in nearby Atequiza. Sales in Mexico have

doubled over the last three years. Similarly, rapid growth in water-soluble polymers is expected to continue worldwide as

Cytec meets the needs of municipalities and countries, especially in Asia and Latin America, that are addressing con-

sumers’ requirements for improved water quality.

new product developments in  paper and mining chemic als

More fine paper is manufactured in North America with Cytec’s alkaline sizing technologies than with similar chemicals

from all of our competitors combined. Our sizing chemicals, strength resins, and polymers for retention, promotion,

cytec makes it possible

concentration, and gradesconcentration, and grades



flocculants

antiscalants and dispersants flocculants and 
dewatering aids

promoters, depressants,
frothers, extractants

Crushing

Mine

Grinding

Concentrating

Converting

RoastingSmelting

Tailings Pond

Refining

Electrolytic Refining

Finished Material

binders
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specialt y  chemic als:  water and industrial  process chemic als

Water-soluble polymers are the foundation of our chemical

technologies for water and wastewater and paper manufactur-

ing chemicals. These polymers as well as our reagents are used

in various stages of mineral production, as illustrated below.

Our Water and Industrial Process Chemicals include phosphine

chemicals used in components for electronic products, catalyst

manufacturing, mining, and other applications.



drainage, and formation enhance the quality and performance of papers. They also improve manufacturing processes and

reduce their costs. The demand for our paper manufacturing chemicals is expected to grow as the Internet and other

computer uses drive the need for high quality printing papers, especially those for printing high resolution graphic images.

An 80-year history of innovation and technical excellence serves as the foundation for Cytec’s world leadership and repu-

tation in providing chemical technologies to the mineral ore, alumina, copper, and coal processing industries. These indus-

tries face complex economic, environmental, and metallurgical challenges. With new products developed by Cytec, they

are meeting these challenges and creating solutions for improving mineral processing methods.

Cytec is a pioneer in developing innovative applications for phosphine chemistry. Our phosphine manufacturing facility

is the most advanced in the world, providing the operational excellence to position us for continuing technological leader-

ship and to pursue new growth opportunities in electronic chemicals, agricultural fumigants, and flame retardants.

str ategic  acquisitions:  building the fr anchise

During 1999 Cytec acquired Inspec Mining Chemicals, a manufacturer of specialty mining chemicals, and we also

acquired the industrial minerals product line of the Nottingham Company.

The Inspec acquisition provides Cytec with manufacturing, operations, and a technical support center strategically

situated in Chile. Chile is one of the world’s largest copper-producing regions, positioning Cytec to benefit from strong

projected growth in this region. In 1998 we acquired the line of OREPREP® mineral processing reagents from Baker

Petrolite Corporation.

In 1999 we acquired BOC Gases’ phosphine-based fumigant business. Cytec recently received U.S. regulatory approval

to market ECO2FUME®, an environmentally friendly, nonflammable fumigant used to control insects on post-harvest,

nonfood agricultural products. 

All these acquisitions reflect our fundamental strategy of investing in the growth of Cytec’s franchise businesses. They

broaden our product and process technologies so that we can provide a greater range of solutions to our customers, while

we achieve the synergies in manufacturing, sales, and administration that support profitable growth.

oper ational  excellence:  pur suing global  growth opportunities  and cost efficiency

Cytec’s dry, emulsion, and dispersion flocculants for water treatment applications offer superior technical advantages that

have given us a strong market position with consistent growth. Our technological strengths and global reach make us a

logical choice for customers in Asia, Latin America, and Europe. We expect to grow as demand for our products expands,

driven by environmental regulations, global economic expansion, customer needs to reduce costs, and consumer

demands for higher quality water standards.

With production of our plants nearing design capacity in 1999, important projects have been launched at our facilities

in Mobile, Alabama, and Bradford, England, to expand capacity, increase manufacturing efficiency, and enhance cus-

tomer service by improving process automation and packaging capabilities. The net result will be a 40 percent increase in

capacity in Mobile, primarily for our leading emulsion products. In Bradford, the capacity for our dry polyacrylamides

will be increased by 65 percent to satisfy growing global customer demand. 

We continue to invest in our Canadian phosphine chemicals plant to expand capacity, enhance technology, and reduce

costs for an expanding range of phosphine products.

corpor ate str ategy:  global  and market expansion

Cytec is a global leader or major competitor in all of our principal specialty product lines. We have a global network of

applications specialists who provide technical support and applications-driven research and development to customers

around the world. Using the latest communications technology, we can rapidly activate our global resources to provide a

local solution. By strengthening our global supply chain, our customer service and working capital requirements will be

optimized. We are working to increase our positions in existing global markets and to enter new markets in pursuit of our

strategic priority of global and market expansion.
11
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applic ations: automobile,  industrial,  and consumer 

product coatings;  pl a stic  additives,  adhesives,  paints

performance products

summary of  f ive-year growth str ategies

• Utilize our global franchise position in the application, development, and manufacture of amino resins for

the coatings industry to broaden our product offerings through internal development and acquisitions

• Realize the full benefits of the acquisition of the BIP specialty resins business through integration of

manufacturing and marketing

• Drive geographic expansion of surfactants and specialty monomers to the emulsion polymerization

industry through enhanced focus on customers’ applications

• Expand our position as a leader in polymer stabilization and formulation technologies through the

introduction of new technologies and formulations

• Broaden our global manufacturing and distribution capabilities to achieve further growth in surfactants’

and specialty monomers’ leading niche positions

Producing tougher, glossierProducing tougher, glossier



automobile paints and finishesautomobile paints and finishes
this is cytec
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overview

With 1999 sales of $442.4 million and earnings from operations of $54.9 million, our Performance Products segment

provides advanced chemical technologies to customers in the coatings, adhesives, and plastics industries. This segment

includes specialty resins, polymer additives, surfactants, and specialty monomers. Specialty resins are used in automotive,

appliance, metal container, and metal coil coatings; paint finishes for plastic, wood, and metal; and as adhesion promot-

ers in tire manufacturing. 

Polymer additives serve as ultraviolet (UV) light absorbers and stabilizers and as antioxidants in plastics and coatings

for automotive components, safety glass, engineered plastics, plastic films used in agricultural applications, carpet and

textile fibers, and a broad range of commercial and consumer plastics that are exposed to UV light.

Cytec’s surfactants and specialty monomers are used in formulating emulsion polymers that enhance the performance of

paints, paper coatings, printing inks, textile and nonwoven binders, industrial and can coatings, and adhesives. Surfactants

also are used in cosmetics, food additives, pharmaceutical products, and chemical processing. Specialty monomers have

additional applications in wood glues, plastic resins, and superabsorbent water-soluble polymers.

serving customer s through new product development

Advanced technology, global presence, and expertise in understanding customer applications are the competitive advan-

tages we bring to our customers as the leading producer of high-solids, melamine amino crosslinking coating resins. Cytec’s

Specialty Resins business is leveraging its technological expertise with high performance solutions that help our cus-

tomers make better products.

CYLINK® 2000 is a new crosslinker for industrial coatings that addresses two important customer needs: resistance to

acid rain and elimination of formaldehyde evolution during coating applications. Because of its overall high performance,

commercial use of CYLINK® 2000 in automotive OEM topcoats is growing rapidly at several major paint manufacturers.

Since CYLINK® 2000 neither contains nor generates formaldehyde, customers are actively developing new coating

products for food and beverage containers and for industrial wood applications.



specialt y  chemic als:  performance products
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tires

From high performance automobile components, tires, and paint

finishes to stronger and more weather resistant plastics; from supe-

rior quality wood bonding and lamination to more durable paint and

coating finishes for wood and metal surfaces, Cytec’s Performance

Products are used in making a vast array of automotive components,

as shown below. We are leading the way in developing new products

with performance, cost, and environmental improvements in

response to the evolving needs of markets around the world.



In addition, we have recently commercialized two new melamine crosslinking resins that have a 50 percent lower

formaldehyde content and are superior to solvent-based products. With their low-formaldehyde and high-solids

content, these new melamine products also meet increasing customer demand for coatings technologies that have a

reduced environmental impact. 

We have developed a new generation of single-component, resin-based adhesion promoters for the tire manufac-

turing industry. Our products streamline the manufacturing process, lower its costs, improve the environmental

impact of manufacturing, and provide performance advantages over other resin bonding systems.

Cytec has a long history of meeting customer needs for superior UV light stabilizers. We recently developed a

light stabilizer for agricultural plastic films that has superior resistance to the damage that can be caused by pesti-

cides. Moreover, we have relaunched a unique class of UV light stabilizers for engineered polymers, and we have

developed a superior manufacturing process for our existing UV light stabilizer products.

In surfactants, we have developed new low-foaming surfactants designed to improve gloss and coating perfor-

mance in high speed paper coating applications. In specialty monomers, new high performance monomers impart

excellent scrub resistance and washability to architectural coatings.

str ategic  acquisitions strengthen market position of  specialt y  resins

In October 1999 we acquired the amino coatings resins business of BIP Limited (“BIP”). This business, which had

1999 pro forma sales of approximately $25 million, is an excellent strategic fit. It broadens our existing methylated

product line with new butylated resins, and it exemplifies the synergistic, bolt-on accretive acquisitions that

advance our strategic growth objectives.

global  and market expansion

The strategic imperative of Specialty Resins is to build strong partnerships that serve customers globally. The acquisi-

tion of BIP’s specialty resins business and the 1998 purchase of the other half of Cytec’s amino crosslinking resins joint

venture with Dyno Industrier ASA of Norway are major achievements that support our global customers and future

growth. We now have a significant presence in Europe that is aligned with our global operations. Specialty Resins’s size

and global coordination are also supporting new growth opportunities in Latin America and Asia. Specialty Resins

will continue building its global organization to expand its marketing of amino resins and urethane chemicals to the

coatings, rubber chemicals, adhesives, textile, and ink industries. 

Polymer Additives is continuing to grow globally as the use of plastics expands in a wide range of applications.

We are increasing our sales, marketing, and technical services to support the growth of this business.

oper ational  excellence:  increa sing c apacit y  efficiently

Cytec is the leading global supplier of UV light stabilizers used in agricultural films. Strong customer demand for

CYASORB® UV 1084 light stabilizer has led to an operational excellence initiative to increase manufacturing capacity

by nearly 30 percent through debottlenecking and process improvements at our plant in Botlek, The Netherlands.

This project ensures we are positioned to cost efficiently meet world demand for this additive.

After closure of the Linden, New Jersey, surfactant plant in 1998, we completed a successful startup and subsequent

relocation of our surfactant production into our new plant in Willow Island, West Virginia. We retained 100 percent

of our customers during this complex transition. The new plant has allowed us to achieve significant operational

improvements, such as reduced manufacturing cycle times, improved product quality, and lower operating costs.

corpor ate str ategy:  new product development

Cytec has a tradition of applying technological innovation to create customer solutions with product excellence that is

evidenced in our market leadership. The focus of our new product strategy is to bolster our positions in existing markets

and extend our reach into new markets by providing customers with products and applications technologies that improve

the performance of their products and processes. Through our customer partnerships, we work to jointly create a solu-

tion, accelerate product introduction, and grow with our customers. 15
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Providing technologically advancedProviding technologically 

applic ations: commercial  and military aerospace,  

satellites,  performance automotive products,  specialt y  

recreational  products,  electronic s

specialt y  materials

summary of  f ive-year growth str ategies

• Invest in technical leadership in aerospace composites and structural adhesives for critical applications

demanding a high strength-to-weight ratio

• Develop new formulations of resins for surface bonding and fiber reinforcement to broaden applications

and qualifications for aircraft

• Support ongoing product development for new and existing military platforms

• Intensify customer partnerships and lead the technical developments needed for new materials for very

large, wide-body commercial jets of the future

• Establish leading technology position through internal development or acquisitions in emerging non-aerospace

markets that require demanding performance criteria for composite materials and structural adhesives

• Increase process efficiency through operational excellence and broader use of Six Sigma initiatives



17

cytec leads the way

overview

With 1999 sales of $434.5 million and earnings from operations of $85.3 million, our Specialty Materials segment is the

global leader in aerospace adhesives and composites. It produces high performance structural adhesives and advanced

composites for applications in commercial and military aircraft and helicopters; business, commuter, and regional jets;

and satellites, missiles, launch vehicles, and the space shuttle. Cytec is a preferred supplier. Our technologically

advanced materials are qualified for use in virtually every major commercial and military airframe construction program

in the Western world. 

Our Specialty Materials business is a pioneering global leader. We are recognized for the technological excellence of

our products and for offering one of the most comprehensive product lines in the industry.

global  and market expansion

Cytec is committed to expanding specialty materials technology beyond traditional uses through non-aerospace applica-

tions. For example, we recently received qualification of our carbon fiber reinforced thermoplastic composites for tank

warfare. These composites have been selected as the material of choice by the U.S. Army for use in manufacturing its

next generation of armor-piercing, anti-tank ammunition.

new product development:  helping our customer s to reduce costs

The superior strength-to-weight ratio of our structural adhesives and advanced composites has increased the application

of these products as substitutes for metal and other materials. For example, about 10 percent of the structural weight of

structural materialsstructural materialsProviding technologically advancedadvanced



wheel brakes

engine components and cowlings

access panels

specialt y  materials

nose cones

flaps, spoilers,
and deflectors

tailplanes and elevators

air conditioning duct work

doors

pylon fairings

ailerons

fin boxes and rudders

As shown below, Cytec’s aerospace materials

are used in a broad range of applications in

commercial and military aircraft. They also

are used in space vehicles and satellites and

increasingly in nonaviation applications. Our

structural adhesives and advanced compos-

ites are enabling manufacturers to produce

next-generation aircraft and space vehicles

with greater performance capabilities than

was previously possible.

exteriors: fuselage
components

leading edge
slats

interiors: sidewall,
ceiling, and floor
panels; storage
and cargo bins,
lavatories and

galleys

cockpit components
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the B-777 commercial jet now consists of composite materials, including floor beams, engine cowlings, flight control

surfaces, landing gear doors, and wing-to-body fairings. Helicopters also use these products in their fuselage and rotor

blades. Cytec’s specialty materials provide strength and flexibility, enhance structural integrity and impact resistance,

and withstand the demanding performance extremes of temperature, structural stress, and vibration encountered in

supersonic and subsonic flight.

We are aggressively developing new products and applications as advanced composites continue to replace aluminum in

a growing number of aerospace applications. We have partnered with original equipment manufacturers to reduce labor

and assembly costs with new products, such as slit tape composites. In addition, we are producing a new, water-based,

corrosion-resistant primer that enhances the performance of adhesives and composites when applied to aluminum sur-

faces and also offers significant environmental advantages.

oper ational  excellence:  six  sigma a s a  key to continuous improvement

Cytec’s Specialty Materials business is focused on continuous improvement with the aim of serving customers better. 

It is currently implementing the Six Sigma discipline, which involves statistical methodologies and management techniques

to rationalize operational costs, enhance decision making, and drive productivity gains. The highly successful program is

producing reductions in process costs and increasing overall quality and efficiency as we meet our customers’ needs.

corpor ate str ategy:  str ategic  acquisitions

Acquisitions are an essential element of Cytec’s strategies for focused growth. Since September 30, 1997, we have invested

nearly $500 million in acquisitions. They enable us to strengthen our businesses by complementing existing product lines,

broadening our technological expertise, expanding market opportunities, and enhancing our overall financial performance

through operational synergies. Acquisitions, along with divestitures, provide the flexibility to improve Cytec’s business mix as

we address a continuously evolving business environment. We shall continue to utilize this strategy to achieve Cytec’s goals.

19
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applic ations: r aw materials and chemic al  intermediates 

for internal  use and external  markets

building block chemic als

summary of  f ive-year growth str ategies

• Ensure a secure, high quality, low-cost supply of melamine and acrylamide 

for internal use in manufacturing specialty chemical products

• Achieve world-class manufacturing quality and low costs

• Optimize cash flow

• Utilize risk management strategies to reduce the impact of cyclicality on Cytec
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quality productsquality products

overview

With 1999 sales of $204.8 million and earnings from operations of $6.8 million, our Building Block Chemicals

segment provides Cytec with vertical integration by manufacturing the chemicals that serve as the raw materials

for many of our products. The building block chemical intermediates we produce are acrylonitrile, acrylamide,

ammonia, hydrocyanic acid, melamine, and sulfuric acid. Melamine and ammonia are produced by two of our man-

ufacturing joint ventures. Some building block chemicals are upgraded into our specialty chemical products. The

remainder are sold externally to third parties in global markets.

oper ational  excellence is  a  str ategic  imper ative

By producing our own building block chemicals, Cytec is able to exercise rigorous cost and quality controls to

ensure a steady supply of high quality, essential raw materials at a low cost. Our manufacturing costs and efficien-

cies are enhanced when co-products that result from manufacturing a building block chemical serve as the raw

material for manufacturing other products. In addition, producing our raw materials internally reduces Cytec’s

exposure to price fluctuations and supply interruptions.

cytec does it



building block chemic als

Building block chemicals provide the base for vertically integrated,

world-class manufacturing of specialty chemicals and materials to

serve global markets. The core chemicals produced are used inter-

nally and are also sold in external markets. The quality of our chemi-

cal intermediates has enabled Cytec to become a leading supplier 

to external markets.
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corpor ate str ategy:  oper ational  excellence

Operational excellence is a strategic imperative at Cytec. This guiding principle of continuous improvement is evidenced in

all our activities as we strive to create solutions for our customers and provide the highest quality products on time, every

time. It is the “mindset” that stresses the highest level of customer service as we supply value-added products to our global

customers. In all aspects of our business, we seek to attain the highest levels of productivity whether in manufacturing, sup-

ply chain, or support services. Operational excellence is embodied in the values that define the way we work – in our com-

mitments to business ethics, safety, environmental responsibility, employee empowerment, and teamwork.

Over the years we have upgraded and streamlined our chemical manufacturing processes. This has included

restructuring and consolidating operations, investing in capacity expansions, and making environmental improve-

ments. Our building block chemical manufacturing facilities have also attained international quality assurance

standards, demonstrating our commitment to customers.

During 1999 we sold our share of the methanol manufacturing joint venture to our partner, Methanex Corporation.

This action was taken to eliminate the risks in this business resulting from global overcapacity and poor economics.

a ssociated companies

With approximately $525 million in 1999 sales, Cytec’s four associated companies, each 50 percent owned and

unconsolidated, represent financial investments that offer potential opportunities for appreciation.

CYRO Industries, which serves markets in the Western Hemisphere, is one of the world’s largest manufacturers of

high quality, high performance acrylic plastics and a leading producer of the chemical intermediate methyl

methacrylate. The materials produced by CYRO are used in such products as automotive taillights, optical disks,

and acrylic paints.

Criterion Catalyst is a global leader in producing high performance hydroprocessing catalysts for refining markets

worldwide and a pioneer in developing breakthrough catalyst technologies. The company has the largest and most

comprehensive catalyst research and development facilities in the world. Criterion also produces reforming cata-

lysts used in manufacturing gasoline and catalysts used to make styrene, a raw material for many plastics.

Mitsui-Cytec is the joint venture that produces water-soluble polymers for water and wastewater treatment, min-

eral processing, and paper manufacturing for markets in Japan and parts of Asia. It also produces amino resins for

the coatings market in Japan.

AC Molding Compounds, the largest U.S. manufacturer of melamine and urea molding compounds, is our joint

venture company that serves North American markets with products used primarily in electrical components

and dinnerware.

23
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cytec’s  safet y record
( in jur ies  per  200,000 person-hours)

1National Safety Council 
2Chemical Manufacturers Association
3Data not available for 1999  
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Cytec

cytec’s  commitment to safet y and the environment

Cytec’s steadfast commitment has made us an industry leader in workplace safety. We have implemented strict standards for

handling and manufacturing chemicals and strive for the reduction of waste chemicals in our manufacturing operations. 

We also are concerned about safeguarding the health, well-being, and environment of the communities adjacent to our

plants. As a charter member of the Chemical Manufacturers Association’s Responsible Care® Program, Cytec works to

reduce any environmental hazards associated with our chemicals. In support of the Chemical Manufacturers Association’s

enhanced Responsible Care® Program, we have raised the level of three fundamental safety and environmental perfor-

mance goals for Cytec.

voluntary reductions in  SARA relea ses
( in  mi l l ions  of  pounds)
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0
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cytec’s  new responsible  c are ® goals

• Achieve zero accidents that result in injuries to employees

• Reduce SARA releases within five years by 25 percent from the 1998 base-year level

• Reduce to zero the number of reportable accidental releases of chemicals to the environment

Our core value at Cytec is ensuring the safety of our employees, local communities, and the environment. Cytec’s
exemplary safety record, as compared to any measure of safety in the United States, reflects our commitment.

Cytec has voluntarily reduced releases by 91 percent since the SARA 
program began in 1987. The slight increase in releases in 1995 and 1996
correspond to increases in overall chemical production.
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The talent, empowerment, and teamwork of Cytec’s people express the fundamental

values that support our strategy of operational excellence. Our Circle of Excellence

award recognizes those who exemplify these qualities. It also acknowledges the

importance of extraordinary contributions in every functional area of the Company

and underscores the interdependence of research and development, manufacturing,

sales, and support services in achieving our ultimate goal of fulfilling customer

needs. Those entering the Circle of Excellence bring honor and distinction to them-

selves and to Cytec. They represent the solid core of excellence upon which we con-

tinue to build Cytec.

1999 circle  of  excellence award for 1998 achievements

• Achieved 39% sales growth in Latin American accounts, exceeding growth

target by 20%

• Expanded European sales of urethane chemical products by 26%, exceeding

growth target by 9%

• Worked closely with customer to reproduce and resolve complex, interrelated

manufacturing problems

• Achieved greater than 20% sales growth in technical sales for fourth consecu-

tive year

• Developed revolutionary manufacturing process for existing UV light stabi-

lizer products and discovered new classes of UV light stabilizers with great

commercial potential

• Consistently displayed initiative, ownership, and high level of energy

in meeting and exceeding customer needs

• Lowered costs for UV light stabilizer manufacturing processes and laid

groundwork for future developments in light stabilizer products

• Achieved 23% increase in acrylamide production with improved

manufacturing costs

• Negotiated single-largest contract ever for Cytec Fiberite and maintained

Cytec’s position with a major customer

• Performed key role on team that solved production problems for major

customer, resulting in 35% increase in product sales

• Engineered 46% decrease in use of caustic required for acid regeneration plant

• Achieved injury-free year of plant operations with no OSHA reportable

injuries and with exemplary environmental record

• Performed integral role in implementing use of advanced composites at

major aerospace manufacturer

• Negotiated contract that resulted in Cytec attaining 90% share of a customer’s

North American business

��
��
��
��
��
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• Cytec generated almost $200 million in cash flow from

operations in 1999, a 31 percent increase from $152.3

million in 1998. Our cash flow from operations is used

to fund acquisitions, make capital investments, and

repurchase stock, among other corporate purposes. Our

strong performance in generating this cash flow enables

us to pursue Cytec’s strategies for focused growth.

• Capital investments in 1999 for manufacturing plant

upgrades and capacity expansions amounted to $77 mil-

lion, which was in line with our forecasts. We expect to

spend approximately $100 million in 2000.

• We returned to stockholders approximately $43 million

through our stock repurchase program to enhance share-

holder value.

• When it was all said and done, we reduced Cytec’s net

debt (short-term borrowings plus long-term debt minus

cash and cash equivalents) by almost $18 million

during 1999.

• Tax planning and strategy is an important part of Cytec’s

performance. We continued to maximize our after-tax

cash flow by realizing an $8 million tax benefit in the

third quarter of 1999 and (excluding that benefit) reduc-

ing our effective tax rate to a sustainable 34.5 percent,

down from 37 percent in 1998.

financial  highlights
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management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 

and results of operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 38 to 58. Dollars are in millions, except share and per share amounts.

GENERAL

During 1999 the Company completed the following acquisition and disposition transactions:
On January 25, 1999, the Company acquired assets of the Nottingham Company’s industrial minerals product line for $4.0.

The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $0.5, which will be amortized on a straight-
line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial
Process Chemicals segment.

On August 11, 1999, the Company acquired assets of the BOC Gases’ global phosphine fumigants product line for $3.5. The
purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $1.2, which will be amortized on a straight-line
basis over a period of up to 20 years. The terms of the acquisition provide for up to two additional payments aggregating up to
$1.0 to be paid upon approval by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency of certain fumigant registrations and for additional
consideration to be paid if the acquired product line’s net sales exceed certain targeted levels. The contingency for payment of
$0.3 of additional consideration was met during the first quarter of 2000 and was recorded as additional goodwill. All addi-
tional payments are payable in cash and will be recorded as additional goodwill when the contingencies for payment have
been met. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segment.

On September 16, 1999, the Company acquired Inspec Mining Chemicals S.A. (“IMC”) from Laporte plc for $25.1, net of
$0.8 cash received. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $19.0, which will be amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The acquisition, which included two manufacturing operations
and a research and development center located in Chile, was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial Process
Chemicals segment.

On October 29, 1999, the Company acquired the amino coatings resins business of BIP Limited (“BIP”) for approximately
$37.2 in cash plus future consideration with a value equivalent to approximately $8.3. The purchase price exceeded the fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired by $36.7, which will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 
40 years. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s Performance Products segment. BIP will retain its manu-
facturing plant in Oldbury, United Kingdom, where it will continue to manufacture certain amino coatings resins for Cytec 
for at least one year.

All four acquisitions have been recorded under the purchase method of accounting with the purchase prices allocated to the
assets received and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values. The results of operations for the acquired busi-
nesses are included  from the dates of acquisition in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts recorded as excesses of
the purchase price over the identifiable assets acquired (“goodwill”) are included in Acquisition Intangibles in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

On January 21, 1999, the Company sold substantially all of the assets of its engineered molding compounds business,
excluding land, buildings and one product line, to Rogers Corporation of Manchester, Connecticut, for $4.3.

During 1998 the Company completed the following acquisition and disposition transactions:
On June 24, 1998, the Company acquired assets of the OrePrep minerals processing product line (“OrePrep”) from Baker

Petrolite Corporation for approximately $9.0. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by
$8.3. The acquired product line was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segment.

On July 31, 1998, the Company purchased from Dyno Industrier ASA of Oslo, Norway, Dyno’s global amino coatings resins busi-
ness (the “Dyno Business”), which consisted primarily of Dyno’s 50% interest in Dyno-Cytec, a European joint venture, for approx-
imately $55.7 in cash. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $32.0. The acquired
business was integrated into the Company’s Performance Products segment.

On October 9, 1998, the Company acquired The American Materials & Technologies Corporation (“AMT”), a manufacturer of
advanced composite materials, in a stock transaction designed to qualify as a tax-free reorganization. In the transaction, the
Company issued from Treasury Stock 1,243,663 shares of its common stock to AMT shareholders. In addition, outstanding
options and warrants to acquire AMT stock were converted into 335,209 Cytec options and warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of $10.48 per share. The cost of the acquisition was approximately $26.8, including the shares issued, options
and warrants converted and previous shares acquired, plus the assumption of approximately $5.4 in debt. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $24.4. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s
Specialty Materials segment. On October 26, 1998, the Company sold the assets of the AMT graphite golf shaft business for
approximately $6.2 in cash.
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All three acquisitions have been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting with the purchase prices allocated
to the assets received and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values. The results of operations for the acquired
businesses are included from the dates of acquisition in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts recorded as good-
will are included in Acquisition Intangibles in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be amortized on a straight-line basis
over a period of up to 40 years. 

On November 23, 1998, the Company completed the sale of its bulk molding compounds business to Bulk Molding
Compounds, Inc., of West Chicago, Illinois, for $17.0 in cash, resulting in a pretax gain of $4.4. The business acquired by Bulk
Molding Compounds, Inc., included Cytec’s manufacturing, laboratory and sales facility located at Perrysburg, Ohio. Sales for
this product line were $24.9 and $26.6 in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

During 1997 the Company completed the following acquisition and disposition transactions:
On September 30, 1997, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Fiberite, Inc. (“Fiberite”) for

$344.0. The assets acquired included all of Fiberite’s business except its satellite materials business. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $269.7, which is included in Acquisition Intangibles in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and which will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The Fiberite
operations have been integrated into the Company’s Specialty Materials segment. The Fiberite acquisition was accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting. 

On January 31, 1997, the Company completed the sale of its acrylic fibers product line to a subsidiary of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.
(“Sterling”). The assets transferred included the Company’s plant located near Pensacola, Florida. The Company received approx-
imately $94.8 in cash and certain other consideration, including the assumption by Sterling of certain contingent and other 
liabilities with a value of approximately $15.0. The Company recorded a pretax gain of approximately $22.3 from this transaction.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”). SFAS 133 established account-
ing and reporting standards for hedging activities and derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embed-
ded in other contracts. As originally issued, SFAS 133 would have been effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2000.
However, in July 1999, the FASB issued SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – Deferral
of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133,” which delays the effective date of SFAS 133 by one year. SFAS 133 will now
become effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2001. The Company is reviewing the potential impact, if any, of
SFAS 133 on its consolidated results of operations and financial position.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth the percentage relationship that certain items in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Income bear to net sales:

Years Ended December 31, 1999 1998 1997

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Manufacturing cost of sales 68.7 69.7 72.1
Gross profit 31.3 30.3 27.9
Selling and technical services 10.6 10.6 11.3
Research and process development 3.1 3.0 3.5
Administrative and general 3.7 3.2 3.7
Amortization of acquisition intangibles 0.8 0.7 0.2

Earnings from operations(1) 13.1 12.8 9.2

Net earnings(2) 8.6 8.6 8.8

(1) Percentage in 1997 includes the effect of restructuring and other charges of (3.3%).
(2) Percentage in 1997 includes an after-tax gain of 1.1% primarily relating to the divestiture of the acrylic fibers product line and the effect of
a reversal of a tax valuation allowance of 1.9%.
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NET SALES BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

The Company has four reportable segments: Water and Industrial Process Chemicals, Performance Products, Specialty
Materials and Building Block Chemicals.

The Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segment produces water treating, mining, paper and phosphine chemicals that
are used mainly in water and wastewater treatment, mineral processing and separation and paper manufacturing. The
Performance Products segment produces specialty resins, surfactants and specialty monomers and polymer additives that are
used primarily in coatings, adhesives and plastics applications. The Specialty Materials segment manufactures and sells aero-
space materials that are used mainly in commercial and military aviation and launch vehicles, automobiles, recreational prod-
ucts, satellites and aircraft brakes. The segment also includes the Bulk and Engineered Molding Compounds businesses
which, except for one minor product line, were divested in 1998 and 1999, respectively. The Building Block Chemicals segment
manufactures acrylonitrile, acrylamide, ammonia, hydrocyanic acid, melamine and sulfuric acid. These chemicals are used in
the manufacture of many of the Company’s other products with the remainder sold to third parties. Internal usage is not
reflected in net sales of Building Block Chemicals.

The Company’s net sales by business segment are set forth below.

Years Ended December 31, 1999 1998 1997

Water and Industrial Process Chemicals $ 372.8 $ 349.4 $ 351.3
Performance Products 442.4 403.4 395.1
Specialty Materials(1) 434.5 492.2 264.3
Building Block Chemicals 162.8 199.3 265.3
Other(2) – 0.2 14.6

$1,412.5 $1,444.5 $1,290.6

(1) On November 23, 1998, the Company completed the sale of its bulk molding compounds product line, which had sales of $24.9 and $26.6
in 1998 and 1997, respectively. On January 21, 1999, the Company completed the sale of its engineered molding compounds product line,
which had sales of $14.1 and $3.3, in 1998 and 1997, respectively.
(2) 1997 includes acrylic fibers sales of $11.9. The acrylic fibers product line was sold on January 31, 1997.

For more information on the Company’s segments see Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and further discussions
in the Segment Results section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The Company has a 50% interest in each of four unconsolidated associated companies: CYRO Industries, Criterion Catalyst,
Mitsui-Cytec and AC Molding Compounds and had a 50% interest in the former Dyno-Cytec joint venture through July 31, 1998.
The aggregate net sales of unconsolidated associated companies were $521.4 in 1999, $583.0 in 1998 and $596.5 in 1997.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999, COMPARED WITH YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998

Net sales for 1999 were $1,412.5, compared with $1,444.5 for 1998. The decrease was due mainly to $57.7 of lower sales in the
Specialty Materials segment and $36.5 of lower sales in the Building Block Chemicals segment. This decrease was partially
offset by sales increases in the Water and Industrial Process Chemicals and Performance Products segments of $23.4 and
$39.0, respectively, (see Segment Results discussion below). 

Net sales in the United States were $799.9 for 1999, compared with $890.6 for 1998. International net sales were $612.6 for
1999, or 43.4% of total sales, compared with $553.9, or 38.3% of total sales, in 1998.

In the North America region, (i.e., United States and Canada) net sales were $863.4 for 1999, down 8.8% from the prior year.
The decrease was due mainly to a 4.4% decrease in selling volumes (primarily in the Building Block Chemicals and Specialty
Materials segments) and lower selling prices, which were down about 4.2%. 
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In the Europe/Mideast/Africa region, net sales were $323.0 for 1999, up 7.1% from the prior year. The increase was due
mainly to a 12.7% increase in selling volumes. Selling volumes increased in the Performance Products and Water and Industrial
Process Chemicals segments. The increase in the Performance Products segment was due mainly to the July 1998 acquisition of
the Dyno Business and the October 1999 acquisition of BIP. The increase in selling volumes was partially offset by lower selling
prices, which were down about 3.8%, and the adverse effect of exchange rate changes, which reduced sales by another 1.8%.

In the Asia/Pacific region, net sales were $151.1 for 1999, up 12.3% from the prior year. The increase was due mainly to a
13.4% increase in selling volumes (primarily in the Performance Products and Water and Industrial Process Chemicals seg-
ments) and the favorable effect of exchange rate changes, which increased sales another 2.1%. This increase was partially off-
set by lower selling prices, which were down about 3.2%.

In the Latin America region, net sales were $75.0 for 1999, up 19.6% from the prior year. The increase was due mainly to a
23.2% increase in selling volumes, of which approximately 0ne-third was from the acquisition of IMC. The increase in selling
volumes was partially offset by the adverse effect of exchange rate changes, which reduced sales about 2.5%, and lower sell-
ing prices, which reduced sales by another 1.1%.

Manufacturing cost of sales was $970.8 for 1999 and included a net restructuring credit of $1.5. Excluding this credit, manu-
facturing cost of sales was 68.8% of net sales, which as a percentage of sales was down slightly when compared with $1,006.6,
or 69.7%, of net sales for last year. Manufacturing costs as a percentage of net sales continued to benefit in 1999 from manufac-
turing rationalization, restructuring benefits, improved product mix, and lower raw material costs. Partially offsetting these ben-
efits were the adverse effects of price and selling volume decreases in the Building Block Chemicals and Specialty Materials
segments as well as price reductions in the Water and Industrial Process Chemicals and Performance Products segments.

Selling and technical service expenses were $150.0 for 1999 and included a restructuring charge of $0.3. Excluding this
charge, selling and technical service expenses decreased $3.7, which reflects the benefits of the Company’s efforts to contain
costs in this area. 

Research and process development expenses were $43.8 for 1999 and included a restructuring charge of $1.7. Excluding
this charge, research and process development expenses decreased $0.8, primarily reflecting the Company’s decentralization
of research to business units and restructuring initiatives at the Stamford, Connecticut, research facility. Partially offsetting
the decrease were higher patent costs for 1999.

Administrative and general expenses were $51.7 for 1999, an increase of $5.1 from 1998. Included in 1999 was a charge of
$2.5 for external costs associated with tax planning, higher costs associated with certain litigation and a net restructuring
charge of $0.1.

Amortization of acquisition intangibles increased $1.7 due to the additional intangibles resulting from the acquisitions of the
Nottingham Company’s industrial minerals product line in January 1999, the BOC Gases’ global phosphine fumigants product
line in August 1999, IMC in September 1999 and BIP’s amino coatings resins business in October 1999. In addition, 1999
included a full year of amortization for the Dyno Business and AMT, which were acquired in July and October 1998, respectively.

Other income, net, was $9.3 for 1999, a decrease of $5.2 from 1998. Included in 1999 were gains of $4.5 from the sale of
land, $2.2 from royalty income and $1.6 from the sale of certain product lines. In 1998, other income, net, included gains of
$4.4 related to the sale of the bulk molding compounds product line, $3.0 of other investment income and $3.8 on certain
investments in unaffiliated companies. 

Equity in earnings of associated companies, which represents the Company’s before-tax share of its 50% owned associates’
earnings, was down $14.7 primarily due to lower sales and earnings by Criterion Catalyst. Industry over-capacity and difficult
economic conditions in the refining industry affected operations at Criterion Catalyst. The result has been much lower selling
prices and an adverse product mix for hydrotreating catalysts. CYRO Industries earnings were also down as selling prices and
margins for certain of its products remain low. In 1998 equity earnings included $2.1 representing the former Dyno-Cytec joint
venture’s results prior to the purchase of the remaining 50% ownership in and subsequent consolidation of the venture in 
July 1998. 

Interest expense, net, was $26.9 for 1999 and increased $4.5 from 1998, reflecting a full year of interest expense associated
with the long-term debt securities issued during 1998.

The income tax provision was $51.7 for 1999 and included a credit of $8.0 related to the utilization of prior years’ tax credits.
Excluding the impact of this item, the Company reduced its underlying effective tax rate for the year to 34.5%, down from the
37.0% rate for 1998.
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Net earnings for 1999 were $121.3, or $2.73 per diluted share, compared with $124.7, or $2.68 per diluted share, for 1998.
Diluted earnings per share in 1999 included a credit of $0.18 per diluted share related to the reduction in income tax expense
from the utilization of prior years’ tax credits, which is partially offset by a charge of $0.04 per diluted share for tax planning
expenses. In addition, diluted earnings per share in 1999 included a $0.01 charge related to the net effect of restructuring
activities. Excluding these three items, diluted earnings per share were $2.60 for 1999. Diluted earnings per share in 1998
included a gain of $0.06 per diluted share from the sale of the bulk molding compounds business. Excluding this gain, the
diluted earnings per share in 1998 were $2.62.

SEGMENT RESULTS

Water and Industrial Process Chemicals sales increased 6.7% to $372.8, and earnings from operations increased 29.0% to
$44.0. The sales increase was primarily in mining chemicals. Overall, selling volumes were up 10.1%, of which approximately
3.3% were from the acquisitions of IMC and the Nottingham Company’s industrial minerals product lines. The increase in sell-
ing volumes was partially offset by lower selling prices, which were down about 2.6%, and the adverse effect of exchange rate
changes, which reduced sales another 0.8%. The improved earnings from operations were primarily the result of leverage from
higher sales, lower raw material prices and reduced operating costs.

Performance Products sales increased 9.7% to $442.4, and earnings from operations increased 24.2% to $54.9. Overall,
selling volumes were up 14.4%, of which approximately 9.5% were from amino coatings resins sales generated as a result of
the July 1998 acquisition of the Dyno Business and the October 1999 acquisition of BIP. The remaining 4.9% increase in selling
volumes was due mainly to stronger sales volumes in the polymer additives product line. The increase in selling volumes was
partially offset by lower selling prices, which were down about 4.6%, and the adverse effect of exchange rate changes, which
reduced sales another 0.2%. The improved earnings from operations were primarily the result of higher sales volumes and to a
lesser extent lower raw material prices and reduced operating costs.

Specialty Materials sales were $434.5, a decrease of 11.7% from the previous year. Earnings from operations, however,
improved 5.3% to $85.3. Approximately 8.2% of the sales decrease was due to the divestiture of the molding compounds and
certain other product lines, partially offset by the acquisition of AMT in the fourth quarter of 1998 which added approximately
3.7% to sales. Excluding the effect of acquisitions and divestitures, selling volumes were down 5.2% as a result of the decline
in the commercial aircraft build rates and were partially offset by new product introductions, new applications and new qualifi-
cations for the Company’s products. Selling prices decreased 1.8%, but the decrease was largely offset by lower raw material
costs. Earnings from operations benefited from the rationalization of manufacturing facilities and the removal of structural
costs consistent with reduced commercial aircraft build rates.

Building Block Chemicals sales were $162.8, an 18.3% decrease. Earnings from operations were $6.8, compared with $35.7
in 1998. For the segment overall, selling prices, primarily for acrylonitrile, were down 9.7%, and volumes and exchange rates
were down another 7.9% and 0.7%, respectively. Selling prices for acrylonitrile, which were weak for the first six months of
1999, began to improve during the second half of the year, driven mostly by unanticipated global acrylonitrile production out-
ages and the growing demand from Asian acrylic fiber markets. However, costs for propylene, the key raw material for acry-
lonitrile, increased at a faster rate, and as a result, acrylonitrile margins remained low. In addition, lower selling prices and
volumes of acrylamide and melamine, downtime at the acrylonitrile plant and other operating difficulties negatively impacted
earnings. In December 1999, the Company sold to Methanex Corporation its 30% interest in the methanol manufacturing joint
venture. The methanol plant had been shut down since March 1999 due to poor economics.

Di luted earnings  per  share  have grown
from $2.39 in  1997 to  $2.68 in  1998
and $2.73 in  1999.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998, COMPARED WITH YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997

Net sales for 1998 were $1,444.5, which were approximately 11.9% higher in comparison with 1997 net sales of $1,290.6. The
increase was mainly attributable to sales generated as a result of the acquisitions of Fiberite, the OrePrep product line and the
Dyno Business. Included in 1997 were sales of $11.9 from the acrylic fibers product line that was divested on January 31, 1997.

Sales outside of the United States for the full year 1998 were 38.3% of total sales, a decrease of 1.0% when compared with
1997 international sales. This was primarily a result of the inclusion of Fiberite sales, which are principally U.S. based. Sales in
the Asia/Pacific region were down 5.5% for the year. The decrease was mainly due to the region’s financial crisis and to the
effect of adverse exchange rate fluctuations. Overall sales to this region were about 9.3% of total Cytec sales.

Manufacturing cost of sales for the full year decreased from 72.1% of net sales to 69.7%. Included in 1997 were the unfavor-
able effects of restructuring and other charges totaling $34.6 related primarily to manufacturing sites at Fortier, Louisiana;
Willow Island, West Virginia; Botlek, The Netherlands and Linden, New Jersey. Excluding the restructuring and other charges in
1997, the manufacturing cost of sales increased 0.3% in 1998 due to a decrease in operating capacity resulting from severe
weather conditions primarily at the Building Block Chemicals Fortier facility in Louisiana and to adverse exchange rate fluctua-
tions, which affected all segments. In addition, the startup of the Performance Products benzotriazole light stabilizer plant
increased expenses. Partially offsetting this was a reduction of retiree medical expenses and stock-based employee compen-
sation of $7.8.

Selling and technical service expenses increased $8.0 or 5.5%. Included in 1997 were restructuring and other charges of $3.2
related to sales force and customer service restructuring and costs associated with the integration of Fiberite. Excluding these
charges, selling and technical service expenses increased 7.9%, reflecting the impact of the acquisitions made during the year.
Partially offsetting this was a reduction of retiree medical expenses and stock-based employee compensation of $2.3.

Research and process development expenses for 1998 decreased $1.8 or 4.0%. Included in 1997 were restructuring and
other charges of $2.0 of which $1.0 related to the reduction of corporate research and development overhead and $1.0 related
to the write-off of in-process research and development acquired from Fiberite. Excluding these charges, research and devel-
opment expenses increased 0.5%. Included in research and development was a reduction of retiree medical expenses and
stock-based employee compensation of $1.9.

Administrative and general expenses decreased $1.1 or 2.3%. Included in 1997 were restructuring and other charges of $2.6
relating to corporate headquarters restructuring and costs for reorganizing the legal entity structure in Europe. Excluding
these charges, administrative and general expenses increased 3.3%, primarily reflecting the acquisitions. Included in 1998
was a reduction of retiree medical expenses and stock-based employee compensation of $4.2.

Amortization of acquisition intangibles increased $6.8 due to intangibles that resulted from the acquisitions made during
the year and in the latter part of 1997.

Other income, net, decreased $9.4. Included in 1998 were gains of $4.4 related to the sale of the bulk molding compounds
product line, $3.0 of other investment income and $3.8 on certain investments in unaffiliated companies. Included in 1997
was a $22.3 gain related to divested product lines and charges of $9.0 for reducing the carrying amount of the Company’s sub-
sidiary CONAP, Inc., to net realizable value and for expected losses on certain other assets that were held for sale. Excluding
these items, other income in 1998 was comparable to 1997.

Equity in earnings of associated companies, all of which are 50% owned, represents the Company’s before-tax share of its
associates’ earnings. Such earnings increased $8.0 mainly due to higher sales and improved operations for Criterion Catalyst
and were partially offset by lower earnings from CYRO Industries and the result of consolidating the operating results of the
Dyno-Cytec joint venture effective August 1, 1998.

Interest expense, net, increased as a result of the increase in long-term debt associated with the acquisition of Fiberite, stock
repurchases and the acquisition of the Dyno Business. Net interest expense for 1998 was $22.4, compared with $5.7 in 1997.

The income tax provision in 1998 was 37%, compared with 39% (excluding the impact of nonrecurring items) in 1997. This
was primarily due to improved tax planning for foreign and state taxes as well as benefits from increased sales through the
Company’s foreign sales corporation. 

Net earnings for 1998 were $124.7, or $2.68 per diluted common share, compared with $113.6, or $2.39 per diluted common
share, for 1997. Included in 1998 was a gain of $4.4 ($2.8 after-tax, or $0.06 per diluted common share) related to the sale of
the bulk molding compounds product line. Excluding this gain, the diluted earnings per share for 1998 was $2.62. Included in
1997 was a favorable tax valuation allowance reversal of $24.4, or $0.51 per diluted common share, an after-tax gain primarily
related to the sale of the acrylic fibers product line of $13.6, or $0.29 per diluted common share, and an unfavorable after-tax
charge related to restructuring and other charges of $34.3, or $0.72 per diluted common share. Excluding these items, the
diluted earnings per share for 1997 was $2.31. After adjusting 1998 and 1997 for the effects of these items net earnings
increased $0.31 per diluted common share or 13.4%, and reflects the positive effects of the acquisitions made during the year,
the reduced tax rate and the effect of the Company’s common stock repurchase program.
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SEGMENT RESULTS

Water and Industrial Process Chemicals net sales decreased $1.9 or 0.5%. Sales volumes were up 1.8%, while selling prices
and exchange rates were down 0.5% and 1.7%, respectively. The increase in international sales volumes was partially offset by
a decrease in paper and water treating chemical U.S. sales volumes.

Performance Products net sales increased $8.3 or 2.1%. Excluding sales as a result of the purchase of the Dyno Business
acquisition, sales were down $6.4 or 1.6%. The decrease was mainly attributable to polymer additives. Lower prices in the
United States and Europe and lower volumes in Asia were primarily responsible for the polymer additives decrease.

Specialty Materials net sales increased $227.9 or 86.2%. This was primarily due to sales generated as a result of the Fiberite
acquisition. Including pro forma Fiberite sales in 1997, sales increased $27.4 or 5.9%. This increase was primarily due to
higher build rates in the commercial aircraft sector. 

Building Block Chemicals net sales decreased $66.0 or 24.9%. Selling prices and volumes were down 13.4% and 11.3%,
respectively. Selling prices for acrylonitrile and methanol continued downward throughout the year and the acrylonitrile plant
operated at a reduced rate. Costs for propylene, the key raw material for production of acrylonitrile, was also down, substan-
tially offsetting the impact of lower selling prices. 

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

At December 31, 1999, the Company’s cash balance was $12.0, an increase of $10.3 from year-end 1998. 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities totaled $199.2 for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared with $152.3

for the year ended December 31, 1998. The most significant factor affecting this increase was the Company’s lower working cap-
ital levels. Payments against restructuring reserves were $16.6 in 1999, compared with $12.9 in 1998. At December 31, 1999, the
restructuring liability to be paid was $6.5. The spending is expected to be completed by the end of 2000, with the exception of
certain long-term payouts for employee severance. 

Environmental remediation spending for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $18.6, $23.8 and $26.1,
respectively. Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pension (“OPEB”) spending for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997 was $27.7, $25.2 and $43.9, respectively. OPEB spending for 1997 includes $25.0 of prefunding of the Company’s
postretirement benefit liability, through contributions to its Voluntary Employees Benefit Association (VEBA) Trust accounts.
The Company expects spending for environmental remediation and OPEB in 2000 to be similar to 1999 levels, though there
can be no assurance that the Company’s annual cash expenditures for environmental remediation or OPEB will not be higher
in the future. See Note 9 and Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements with respect to environmental
matters and OPEB.

Net cash flows used for investing activities totaled $140.4 for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared with $146.9 for
the year ended December 31, 1998. Included in 1999 was funding of $69.8 for the acquisitions of the Nottingham Company’s
industrial minerals product line ($4.0), the BOC Gases’ global phosphine fumigants product line ($3.5), IMC ($25.1) and BIP
($37.2) and a $5.0 loan to Criterion Catalyst. The Company has agreed to make additional loans to Criterion Catalyst up to a
maximum of $50.0 if Criterion Catalyst is not in compliance with certain covenants in its principal credit agreement. Also
included in 1999 were proceeds of $5.9 received from the sale of the molding compounds product lines and $5.9 from the sale
of other assets. Funding for capital additions was $77.4 for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared with $103.8 in 1998.
Capital additions for the year ended December 31, 1998, included three large construction projects in the Performance
Products and Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segments: the Benzotriazole light stabilizer plant in Botlek, The
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Netherlands; the expansion of the surfactants plant at the Willow Island, West Virginia, facility and the expansion of emulsion
capacity in Mobile, Alabama. The Company expects capital spending for the year 2000 to be in the range of $100.0 to $105.0.

The Company believes that, based on internal cash generation and current levels of liquid assets, it will be able to fund
operating cash requirements and planned capital expenditures in 2000.

Net cash flows used for financing activities totaled $47.5 for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared with $10.5 for
the year ended December 31, 1998. In 1999 the Company purchased 1,784,045 shares of Treasury Stock at a cost of $42.5,
while in 1998 the Company purchased 3,561,950 shares of Treasury Stock at a cost of $113.4. Also included in 1998 was an
increase in long-term debt of $97.7, the proceeds of which were used to purchase Treasury Stock and to acquire OrePrep and
an increase in short-term debt of $10.3, related to foreign currency denominated short-term borrowings. During 1999 the
$10.3 of foreign currency denominated short-term borrowings were paid off.

In connection with the Company’s stock repurchase program, during the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company sold an
aggregate of 800,000 put options to three institutional investors in a series of private placements exempt from registration under
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933. The put options entitled the holders to sell an aggregate of 800,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock to the Company at exercise prices ranging from $21.00 to $22.50 per share. During the year, 350,000
of the put options expired unexercised. The remaining 450,000 put options expire on various dates in February and April 2000.
The Company received premiums of approximately $1.2 on the sale of such put options. Subsequent to December 31, 1999, the
Company sold an additional 100,000 put options that expire in July 2000 and 100,000 put options that expire in August 2000 at
exercise prices of $23.083 per share and $23.552 per share, respectively. The Company has received premiums of approximately
$0.2 on the sale of such put options. In lieu of purchasing the shares from the put option holders, the Company has the right to
elect settlement by paying the holders of the put options the excess of the strike price over the then market price of the shares in
either cash or additional shares of the Company’s common stock, (i.e., net cash or net share settlement).

On April 8, 1997, the Company signed an agreement with American Cyanamid Company (“Cyanamid”),  a wholly owned sub-
sidiary of American Home Products Corporation, to revise certain of the financial covenants contained in its Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock (“Series C Stock”) held by Cyanamid. Under the revised terms, the Company must maintain a debt-
to-equity ratio of no more than 2-to-1 and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 3-to-1 for the average of the
fixed charge coverage ratios for the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended and must not incur more than $150.0
of debt unless the Company’s equity is in excess of $200.0. If the Company has more than $200.0 in equity, then it may incur
additional debt as long as its ratio of debt-to-equity is not more than 1.5-to-1. At December 31, 1999, the Company had $422.5
of debt and $505.7 of equity as defined in the Series C Stock covenants and, under the revised terms, would have had the abil-
ity to incur up to an additional $336.1 in debt.

On January 22, 1999, the Company signed an agreement with Cyanamid providing that Cyanamid would irrevocably waive
certain financial covenants contained in the Company’s Series C Stock so that, in addition to restricted payments otherwise
permitted under the Series C Stock, which at December 31, 1999, were limited to $55.2, the Company may make up to $100.0
in special restricted payments solely for the purpose of repurchasing its common stock. As indicated above, through
December 31, 1999, the Company had repurchased 1,784,045 shares at a cost of $42.5 under its $100.0 stock repurchase pro-
gram. At December 31, 1999, $112.7 was available for stock repurchases under the agreements with Cyanamid. The Company
expects the timing of its share repurchases to be balanced with the related financing requirements of its long-term growth
strategies, including research and development, global expansion, capital expenditures and opportunities for acquisitions
arising from consolidation in the specialty chemicals and specialty materials industry.

At December 31, 1999, the Company’s Credit Facility provided for unsecured revolving loans (“Revolving Loans”) of up to
$200.0. The Revolving Loans are available for the general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries, including,
without limitation, for purposes of making acquisitions permitted under the Credit Facility. There was $103.0 of outstanding
borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 1999. The Credit Facility, which is scheduled to mature on July 28, 2002,
contains covenants customary for such facilities. The Company was in compliance with all terms, covenants and conditions of
the Credit Facility at December 31, 1999.

On August 20, 1999, the Company replaced its prior 364-day credit facility with a new 364-day credit facility, which provides
up to $200.0 in unsecured revolving loans for general corporate purposes. Three new lenders were added while two withdrew
from the consortium of U.S. and non-U.S. banks participating in the 364-day credit facility. The 364-day credit facility matures
on August 19, 2000, and contains a one-year term-out option. The interest rate on funds borrowed floats based on the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). There were no outstanding borrowings under the 364-day facility at December 31, 1999.

The Company also has an aggregate of $35.0 in credit potentially available for short-term uses under three uncommitted
credit facilities and a U.S. dollar equivalent of approximately $16.0 available under a foreign denominated over-draft facility.
There were no outstanding borrowings under these facilities at December 31, 1999. 
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During the first six months of 1998, the Company sold an aggregate of $320.0 principal amount of senior debt securities in
public offerings, consisting of (i) $100.0 principal amount of 6.50% Notes due March 15, 2003, (ii) $100.0 principal amount of
6.75% Notes due March 15, 2008 and (iii) $120.0 principal amount of 6.846% MandatOry Par Put Remarketed SecuritiesSM

(“MOPPRSSM”) due May 11, 2025. The securities were offered under the Company’s shelf registration statement, which has
now been fully utilized. The Company received an aggregate of approximately $322.0 in proceeds from the sales before
deducting expenses associated with the sales. The proceeds were used primarily to refinance the Fiberite Acquisition.

The Company is party to four interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional value of $82.0. Two of the swap
agreements with maturity dates during 2001 have virtually offsetting terms. Another swap agreement effectively converts vari-
able rate interest obligations on the Company’s Credit Facility to 6.25% fixed rate obligations. The maturity date of this swap
agreement is November 1, 2001. The fourth interest rate swap agreement was entered into on May 14, 1999, matures in March
2008 and effectively converts $25.0 of the Company’s 6.75% fixed rate borrowings due on March 15, 2008, to a floating rate.
The fair value of the swap agreements is not recognized in the financial statements. Interest rate differentials paid or received
under the agreements are recorded as adjustments to interest expense. For further discussion about the interest rate swap
agreements and other financial instruments see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and further discussions in
the Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations. 

Commencing in September 1997, the Company entered into a series of rate lock agreements to hedge against the risk of an
increase in treasury rates related to the Company’s offering of $300.0 in long-term debt securities. The Company made pay-
ments aggregating approximately $11.2 to settle the rate lock agreements ($9.6 of which was paid during the first half of 1998
and the remainder in 1997), which will be amortized over the life of the 6.50% Notes, 6.75% Notes and 6.846% MOPPRSSM as
an increase in interest expense of such Notes.

The impact of inflation on the Company is considered insignificant since the rate of inflation has remained relatively low in
recent years and investments in areas of the world where inflation poses a risk have been significantly hedged to mitigate the
effects of inflation.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion provides forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about the Company’s potential
exposures to market risk arising from changes in foreign currency rates, commodity prices, interest rates and equity price
changes. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in this forward-looking analysis. 

Market risk represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in the value of financial instruments. The risk of loss
is assessed based on the likelihood of adverse changes in fair values, cash flows or future earnings.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is exposed to various market risks, including fluctuations in foreign cur-
rency rates, commodity prices and interest rates. To manage the exposure related to these risks, the Company may engage in
various derivative transactions in accordance with Company-established policies. The Company neither holds nor issues
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Moreover, the Company enters into financial instrument transac-
tions primarily with major financial institutions or highly-rated counterparties, thereby limiting exposure to credit- and 
performance-related risks.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk The risk of adverse exchange rate fluctuations is mitigated by the fact that there is no concentra-
tion of foreign currency exposure. In addition, the Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts primarily to hedge
currency fluctuations of transactions denominated in foreign currencies. At December 31, 1999, the principal transactions
hedged were short-term intercompany loans and intercompany trade accounts receivable and payable. The maturity dates of
the foreign exchange contracts are less than six months and strongly correlate to the maturity date of the underlying transac-
tion. The foreign exchange gains or losses and the offsetting losses or gains of the hedged transaction are marked to market
and reflected in net earnings.

At December 31, 1999, the Company had net foreign exchange contracts to purchase $6.5 of various currencies, primarily
Dutch guilders and German marks and to sell $5.8 of various currencies, primarily British pounds for U.S. dollars. The
Company also had contracts to sell Dutch guilders with a value equivalent to $13.4 for British pounds and contracts to pur-
chase Norwegian krone with a value equivalent to $4.3 for other European currencies. The differences between fair value of all
outstanding contracts at year-end and the contract amounts were immaterial. Assuming that year-end exchange rates
between the underlying currencies of all outstanding foreign exchange contracts and the various hedged currencies were to
adversely change by a hypothetical 10%, the change in the fair value of all outstanding contracts at year-end would be a
decrease of approximately $3.4. However, since these contracts hedge foreign currency denominated transactions, any
change in the fair value of the contracts would be offset by changes in the underlying value of the transaction being hedged.
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Commodity Price Risk The Company selectively utilizes natural gas derivative contracts including forward contracts, which are
principally settled through actual delivery of the physical commodity, and other hedging arrangements, predominantly cash-
settled swap transactions, to manage its exposure to price risk associated with the production of ammonia and other building
block chemical products. The maturity of these contracts correlate highly to the actual purchases of the commodity and have
the effect of securing predetermined prices that the Company pays for the underlying commodity. While these contracts are
structured to limit the Company’s exposure to increases in commodity prices, they also limit the potential benefit the Company
might have otherwise received from decreases in commodity prices. Realized gains and losses on these contracts are included
in the cost of the commodity upon settlement of the contract, with amounts paid or received on early termination deferred on
the balance sheet until such time.

At December 31, 1999, the Company had $2.8 net natural gas forward commodity and cash-settled swap contracts out-
standing. Based on year-end prices, the Company had a net unrealized loss of $0.4. Assuming that year-end prices were to
adversely change by a hypothetical 10%, the incremental increase in cost of goods sold would be approximately $0.2. 

Interest Rate Risk At December 31, 1999, the financial liabilities of the Company exposed to changes in interest rates consisted
primarily of long-term debt, which had a carrying value of $422.5 (fixed rate public debt of $319.5 and variable rate credit facility
borrowings of $103.0) and a fair value of approximately $399.1. Additionally the Company was party to two interest rate swap
agreements that effectively change the characteristics of the long-term debt. One of the interest rate swap agreements converts
$25.0 of the Company’s $319.5 fixed rate public debt to variable rate debt and the other interest rate swap agreement converts
$20.0 of variable rate credit facility borrowings to fixed rate interest obligations. For fixed rate debt, interest rate changes affect
fair value but do not impact earnings or cash flows. Conversely, for variable rate debt, interest rate changes generally do not
affect fair value but do impact the future earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant.

At December 31, 1999, after adjusting for the effects of interest rate swap agreements, the Company had fixed rate long-
term debt of $314.5 and variable rate long-term debt of $108.0. Assuming a hypothetical increase of 1% in interest rates and all
other variables (such as debt levels) were to remain constant, interest expense on variable rate long-term debt would increase
$1.1 per year and the fair market value of the fixed rate long-term debt would decrease $12.5.

Equity Price Risk In connection with the Company’s stock repurchase program, the Company selectively utilizes freestanding
put option contracts that are indexed to the Company’s stock. In lieu of purchasing the shares from the put option holders, the
Company has the right to elect settlement by paying the holders of the put options the excess of the strike price over the then
market price of the shares in either cash or additional shares of the Company’s common stock, (i.e., net cash or net share set-
tlement). The put option contracts are initially measured at fair value and reported in Stockholders’ Equity. Subsequent
changes in fair value are not recognized in the financial statements.

At December 31, 1999, the Company had 450,000 put options outstanding that expire on various dates in February and
April 2000 and entitled the holders to sell an aggregate of 450,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to the Company at
exercise prices ranging from $21.00 to $22.125 per share. The Company received premiums of approximately $0.5 on the sale
of such put options. The put options outstanding at December 31, 1999, had exercise prices that were less than the Company’s
stock price as of that date. Assuming that the Company’s stock price were to adversely change by a hypothetical 10% or
greater from its year-end closing price, the Company could be subject to purchasing the 450,000 shares of common stock for a
maximum of $9.6, which would be recognized as an adjustment to Stockholders’ Equity.

OTHER

Year 2000 The Company incurred external costs of approximately $5.0 to successfully remediate noncompliant systems in
order to make them Year 2000 compliant. The Company did not and does not expect to experience any significant Year 2000
system failures. However, since the Company has not used all components of all systems since year end, a system failure
remains a technical possibility. The Company did not track its internal costs in connection with Year 2000 issues, but does not
believe they are material.

Euro Conversion On January 1, 1999, 11 of the 15 member countries of the European Union (the “participating countries”)
established fixed conversion rates between their existing sovereign currencies (the “legacy currencies”) and the euro. The par-
ticipating countries adopted the euro as their common legal currency on that date. Effective January 1, 1999, a newly created
European Central Bank assumed control of monetary policy, including money supply and interest rates for the participating
countries. The legacy currencies are scheduled to remain legal tender in the participating countries as denominations of the
euro between January 1, 1999, and January 1, 2002 (the “transition period”). During the transition period, public and private
parties may pay for goods and services using either the euro or the participating country’s legacy currency on a “no compul-
sion, no prohibition” basis. The Company’s principal plants in Europe are in The Netherlands, the United Kingdom and Norway,
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and the Company has sales offices and generates sales throughout Europe. The Netherlands is a participating country,
whereas the United Kingdom and Norway are not currently participating countries.

Since January 1, 1999, the Company has been in a position to conduct business in euros. The Company has initiated and is
evaluating on an ongoing basis the effects, if any, of the euro conversion upon its business. Factors being considered include,
but are not limited to: the possible impact of the euro conversion on revenues, expenses and income from continuing opera-
tions; the impact on cash management and treasury management functions; the competitive implications of increased price
transparency; the ability to adapt information technology to accommodate euro-denominated transactions; the market risks
with respect to financial instruments; the continuity of material contracts and the potential tax consequences.

The Company does not believe that the introduction of the euro notes and coins as well as the withdrawal of participating
currency notes and coins, which is scheduled to begin January 1, 2002, will result in any gains or losses since conversion rates
to the euro for participating countries were irrevocably fixed as of January 1, 1999. The Company believes that some informa-
tion systems modifications are required at the end of the transition period in order for them to be euro compliant. The
Company, however, does not currently believe that the euro conversion will have a material operational or financial impact.

COMMENTS ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

A number of the statements made by the Company in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis or in other documents,
including, but not limited to, the Company’s Annual Report to Stockholders, its press releases and its periodic reports to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, may be regarded as “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Forward-looking statements include, among others, statements concerning the Company’s outlook for 2000 and beyond,
the accretiveness of acquisitions, pricing trends and forces within the industry, the completion dates of and expenditures for
capital projects, expected sales growth, cost reduction strategies and their results, long-term goals of the Company and other
statements of expectations, beliefs, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concern-
ing matters that are not historical facts. 

All predictions regarding future results contain a measure of uncertainty and accordingly, actual results could differ materi-
ally. Among the factors that could cause a difference are: changes in the general economy; changes in demand for the
Company’s products or in the costs and availability of its raw materials; the actions of competitors; the success of our cus-
tomers’ demands for price decreases; technological change; changes in employee relations, including possible strikes; gov-
ernment regulations; litigation, including its inherent uncertainty; difficulties in plant operations and materials transportation;
environmental matters; the results of and recoverability of investments in associated companies and other unforeseen cir-
cumstances. A number of these factors are discussed in the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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december 31,

(Dollars in millions, except share and per share amounts) 1999 1998

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12.0 $ 1.7
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of 

$9.3 in 1999 and $9.2 in 1998 248.5 241.3
Inventories 139.5 140.5
Deferred income taxes 61.7 72.9
Other current assets 29.4 21.2

Total current assets 491.1 477.6

Investment in associated companies 146.4 147.4
Plants, equipment and facilities, at cost 1,352.6 1,363.0

Less: accumulated depreciation (696.9) (695.5)

Net plant investment 655.7 667.5
Acquisition intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of 

$25.9 in 1999 and $18.3 in 1998 395.2 349.5
Deferred income taxes 48.8 62.6
Other assets 22.7 26.0

Total assets $1,759.9 $1,730.6

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Short-term borrowings $ – $ 10.3
Accounts payable 118.5 99.9
Accrued expenses 198.4 243.9
Income taxes payable 49.2 40.3

Total current liabilities 366.1 394.4
Long-term debt 422.5 419.5
Other noncurrent liabilities 465.5 485.7

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, 20,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding 

4,000 shares, Series C Cumulative, $.01 par value at liquidation value of 
$25 per share 0.1 0.1

Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 150,000,000 shares authorized; 
issued 48,132,640 in 1999 and 48,142,961 in 1998 0.5 0.5

Additional paid-in capital 159.8 162.4
Retained earnings 577.5 456.2
Unearned compensation (1.9) (1.7)
Accumulated translation adjustments (14.3) (5.1)
Treasury stock, at cost, 6,522,967 shares in 1999, and 4,952,881 shares in 1998 (215.9) (181.4)

Total stockholders’ equity 505.8 431.0

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,759.9 $1,730.6

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (Notes 4 and 9)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

consolidated balance sheets
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years ended december 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 1999 1998 1997

Net sales $1,412.5 $1,444.5 $1,290.6

Manufacturing cost of sales 970.8 1,006.6 930.9

Selling and technical services 150.0 153.4 145.4

Research and process development 43.8 42.9 44.7

Administrative and general 51.7 46.6 47.7

Amortization of acquisition intangibles 11.2 9.5 2.7

Earnings from operations 185.0 185.5 119.2

Other income, net 9.3 14.5 23.9

Equity in earnings of associated companies 5.6 20.3 12.3

Interest expense, net 26.9 22.4 5.7

Earnings before income taxes 173.0 197.9 149.7

Income tax provision 51.7 73.2 36.1

Net earnings $ 121.3 $ 124.7 $ 113.6

Earnings per common share
Basic $ 2.83 $ 2.79 $ 2.50

Diluted $ 2.73 $ 2.68 $ 2.39

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

consolidated statements of income
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years ended december 31,

(Dollars in millions) 1999 1998 1997

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities
Net earnings $ 121.3 $ 124.7 $113.6

Noncash items included in net earnings:
Dividends from associated companies greater (less) than earnings 0.2 (13.8) 0.1

Depreciation 81.9 78.0 73.1

Amortization 13.2 9.2 5.7

Deferred income taxes 24.3 19.2 3.2

Gain on sale of assets (4.2) (6.9) (22.3)

Other (0.5) (0.2) 6.7

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (8.7) 3.9 (16.7)

Inventories 3.3 1.1 (9.5)

Accounts payable 19.9 (25.2) (9.9)

Accrued expenses (29.0) (19.5) 13.8

Income taxes payable 9.8 26.1 18.5

Other assets (0.6) (8.6) (2.2)

Other liabilities (31.7) (35.7) (42.4)

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 199.2 152.3 131.7

Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities
Additions to plants, equipment and facilities (77.4) (103.8) (91.4)

Proceeds received on sale of assets 11.8 25.9 95.7

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash received (69.8) (73.8) (344.0)

Change in other assets (5.0) 4.8 2.1

Net cash flows used for investing activities (140.4) (146.9) (337.6)

Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and warrants 1.1 3.3 6.0

Purchase of treasury stock (42.5) (113.4) (47.8)

Change in short-term borrowings (10.3) 10.3 –

Change in long-term debt 3.0 97.7 235.0

Debt issuance costs – (9.4) –

Proceeds received on sale of put options 1.2 1.0 1.0

Net cash flows (used for) provided by financing activities (47.5) (10.5) 194.2

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1.0) 0.4 (2.3)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10.3 (4.7) (14.0)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1.7 6.4 20.4

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 12.0 $ 1.7 $ 6.4

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

consolidated statements of cash flows
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Years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997

Additional Accumulated
Preferred Common Paid-In Retained Unearned Translation Treasury

(Dollars in millions) Stock Stock Capital Earnings Compensation Adjustments Stock Total

Balance at December 31, 1996 $0.1 $0.5 $229.7 $217.9 $(2.4) $    8.8 $(140.2) $ 314.4
Net earnings – – – 113.6 – – – 113.6
Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments – – – – – (15.7) – (15.7)

Comprehensive income 97.9
Award of, and changes in, performance 

and restricted stock – – (2.3) – (4.1) – 6.4 –
Amortization of performance and

restricted stock – – – 3.0 – – 3.0
Purchase of treasury stock – – – – – – (47.8) (47.8)
Exercise of stock options – – (37.4) – – – 43.4 6.0
Proceeds received on sale of put options – – 1.0 – – – – 1.0
Tax benefit on stock options – – 12.9 – – – – 12.9

Balance at December 31, 1997 $0.1 $0.5 $203.9 $331.5 $(3.5) $ (6.9) $(138.2) $ 387.4
Net earnings – – – 124.7 – – – 124.7
Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments – – – – – 1.8 – 1.8
Comprehensive income 126.5
Award of, and changes in, performance 

and restricted stock – – (4.5) – 2.1 – 1.3 (1.1)
Amortization of performance and

restricted stock – – – – (0.3) – – (0.3)
Purchase of treasury stock – – – – – – (113.4) (113.4)
Issuance pursuant to acquisition – – (29.5) – – – 51.8 22.3
Exercise of stock options – – (13.8) – – – 17.1 3.3
Proceeds received on sale of put options – – 1.0 – – – – 1.0
Tax benefit on stock options – – 5.3 – – – – 5.3

Balance at December 31, 1998 $0.1 $0.5 $162.4 $456.2 $(1.7) $  (5.1) $(181.4) $  431.0
Net earnings – – – 121.3 – – – 121.3
Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments – – – – – (9.2) – (9.2)
Comprehensive income 112.1
Award of, and changes in, performance 

and restricted stock – – (0.7) – (1.6) – 2.6 0.3
Amortization of performance and

restricted stock – – – – 1.4 – – 1.4
Compensation costs on variable

stock option award – – 0.7 – – – – 0.7
Purchase of treasury stock – – – – – – (42.5) (42.5)
Adjustment to shares issued pursuant 

to acquisition – – 0.6 – – – (0.2) 0.4
Exercise of stock options and warrants – – (4.5) – – – 5.6 1.1
Proceeds received on sale of put options – – 1.2 – – – – 1.2
Tax benefit on stock options – – 0.1 – – – – 0.1

Balance at December 31, 1999 $0.1 $0.5 $159.8 $577.5 $(1.9) $(14.3) $(215.9) $ 505.8

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
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notes to consolidated financial statements

1) SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation The financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries on a consoli-
dated basis. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Prior to 1997 operations outside of
the United States, Canada and Europe were generally included on a fiscal year basis ended November 30. Substantially all of
the operations were brought to a December 31 fiscal year-end in 1997. The effect of the change to current month reporting for
these operations is reflected in other income for 1997 and is not material to the results of operations. The equity method of
accounting is used for investments in associated companies (all 50% owned). Certain reclassifications have been made to
prior years’ data in order to conform with the current year’s presentation. 

Foreign Currency Translation For most of the Company’s international operations, all elements of financial statements are
translated into U.S. dollars using current exchange rates with translation adjustments accumulated in stockholders’ equity.
For international operations in economies that are considered hyperinflationary certain financial statement amounts are
translated at historical exchange rates with all other assets and liabilities translated at current exchange rates and the result-
ing translation adjustments for these operations are recorded in earnings.

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation is provided primarily on a straight-line composite method over the estimated
useful lives of various classes of assets. When such depreciable assets are sold or otherwise retired from service, their costs,
less amounts realized on sale or salvage, are charged or credited to the accumulated depreciation account. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged to current operating expenses. Acquisitions, additions and betterments either to provide
necessary capacity, improve the efficiency of production units, modernize or replace older facilities or to install equipment for
protection of the environment are capitalized. Intangibles resulting from business acquisitions are carried at cost and amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years, unless, in the opinion of management, their lives are limited. The
Company capitalizes interest costs incurred during the period of construction of plant and equipment. The interest cost capi-
talized in 1999, 1998 and 1997 was immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of Long-lived assets and intangibles are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recov-
erable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to the
future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of
the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less the cost to sell.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Securities with maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash
equivalents.

Financial Instruments Financial instruments reflected in the consolidated balance sheets include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, certain other assets, short-term debt, accounts payable, long-term debt and certain other liabilities. Fair
values were determined through a combination of management estimates and information obtained from independent third
parties using the latest available market data.

The Company also uses derivative financial instruments in accordance with Company-established policies to manage expo-
sure to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and certain raw material prices. Derivative financial instruments
utilized by the Company include interest rate swaps, interest rate lock agreements, foreign currency exchange contracts, com-
modity contracts (including forward contracts and other hedging arrangements) predominantly cash-settled swap transac-
tions and put options indexed to the Company’s stock. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes. Moreover, the Company enters into financial instrument transactions primarily with major
financial institutions or highly-rated counterparties, thereby limiting exposure to credit- and performance-related risks. 

The Company uses fixed and floating interest rate swap agreements to synthetically obtain lower cost borrowings and to
alter its exposure to the impact of changing interest rates on the consolidated results of operations and future cash outflows
for interest. The fair value of the swap agreements is not recognized in the financial statements. Interest rate differentials paid
or received under the agreements are recorded as adjustments to interest expense.

Foreign exchange forward contracts are utilized by the Company to hedge short-term intercompany loans and intercompany
trade accounts receivables and payables that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the busi-
ness. The Company’s criteria to qualify for hedge accounting is that the instrument must relate to a foreign currency asset or
liability whose terms have been identified, be in the same currency as the hedged item, have a maturity date that strongly cor-
relates to the maturity date of the underlying transaction and reduce the risk of exchange movement on the Company’s operations.

(Dollars in millions, except share and per
share amounts, unless otherwise indicated)
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The foreign exchange gains or losses and the offsetting losses or gains of the hedged transaction are marked to market and
reflected in net earnings.

The Company selectively utilizes natural gas derivative contracts including forward contracts, which are principally settled
through actual delivery of the physical commodity, and other hedging arrangements, predominantly cash-settled swap trans-
actions, to manage its exposure to price risk associated with the production of ammonia and other building block chemical
products. The maturity of these contracts correlate highly to the actual purchases of the commodity and have the effect of
securing predetermined prices that the Company pays for the underlying commodity. While these contracts are structured to
limit the Company’s exposure to increases in commodity prices, they can also limit the potential benefit the Company might
have otherwise received from decreases in commodity prices. Realized gains and losses on these contracts are included in the
cost of the commodity upon settlement of the contract, with amounts paid or received on early termination deferred on the
balance sheet until such time.

In connection with the Company’s stock repurchase program, the Company selectively utilizes freestanding put option con-
tracts that are indexed to the Company’s stock. In lieu of purchasing the shares from the put option holders, the Company has
the right to elect settlement by paying the holders of the put options the excess of the strike price over the then market price of
the shares in either cash or additional shares of the Company’s common stock, (i.e., net cash or net share settlement). The put
option contracts are initially measured at fair value and reported in Stockholders’ Equity. Subsequent changes in fair value are
not recognized in the financial statements.

Inventories Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for
substantially all inventories in the United States with all other inventories determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average
cost method. 

Income Taxes Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are rec-
ognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of exist-
ing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance
is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date.

If repatriation of the undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries and associated companies is anticipated,
then income taxes are provided for such earnings.

Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits The Company sponsors postretirement and postemployment benefit plans.
The net periodic costs are recognized for these plans as employees render the services necessary to earn the related benefits.

Revenue Recognition Revenue is generally recognized upon shipment of goods to customers.

Earnings Per Share Basic earnings per common share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net earnings by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding (which includes shares outstanding, less performance and
restricted shares for which vesting criteria have not been met) plus deferred stock awards, weighted for the period outstand-
ing. Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the sum of the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period adjusted (i.e., increased) for all additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if potentially dilutive common shares had been issued and any proceeds of the issuance had been used to repur-
chase common stock at the average market price during the quarter. The proceeds used to repurchase common stock are
assumed to be the sum of the amount to be paid to the Company upon exercise of options, the amount of compensation cost
attributed to future services and not yet recognized and the amount of income taxes that would be credited to or deducted
from capital upon exercise.

Stock-Based Compensation The Company continues to account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value
method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations under which no compensation cost is generally recognized for stock options granted, since the Company
grants options at a price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant. Compensation cost for restricted stock is
recorded based on the market value on the date of grant and compensation cost for performance stock is recorded based on
the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock at the end of each period through the date of vesting. The fair value
of restricted and performance stock is charged to stockholders’ equity and amortized to expense over the requisite vesting
periods. Compensation cost for stock appreciation rights payable in cash is amortized to expense over the maturity period. 
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Risks and Uncertainties The Company is engaged primarily in the manufacture and sale of a highly diversified line of chemical
products and materials throughout the world. The Company’s revenues are dependent on the continued operation of its vari-
ous manufacturing facilities. The operation of manufacturing plants involves many risks, including the breakdown, failure or
substandard performance of equipment, natural disasters and the need to comply with directives of governmental agencies.
The occurrence of operational problems, including, but not limited to, the above events, may have a materially adverse effect
on the productivity and profitability of a particular manufacturing facility, or with respect to certain facilities, the Company as a
whole during the period of such operational difficulties.

The Company’s operations are also subject to various hazards incidental to the production, use and sale of industrial chem-
icals, including the use, handling, processing, storage and transportation of certain hazardous materials. These hazards can
cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, environmental damage
and suspension of operations. Claims arising from any future catastrophic occurrence involving the Company may result in the
Company being named as a defendant in lawsuits potentially asserting large claims.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally requires no collateral
from its customers. The Company is exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on foreign
exchange contracts and other risk management instruments. The counterparties to these transactions are major financial
institutions, thus the Company considers the risk of default to be minimal. The Company does not require collateral or other
security to support the financial instruments with credit risk.

In conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, the management of the Company has made a number of esti-
mates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent liabilities and pro
forma compensation expense to prepare the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

2) ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

During 1999 the Company completed the following acquisition and disposition transactions:
On January 25, 1999, the Company acquired assets of the Nottingham Company’s industrial minerals product line for $4.0.

The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $0.5, which will be amortized on a straight-
line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial
Process Chemicals segment.

On August 11, 1999, the Company acquired assets of the BOC Gases’ global phosphine fumigants product line for $3.5. The
purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $1.2, which will be amortized on a straight-line
basis over a period of up to 20 years. The terms of the acquisition provide for up to two additional payments aggregating up to
$1.0 to be paid upon approval by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency of certain fumigant registrations and for additional
consideration to be paid if the acquired product line’s net sales exceed certain targeted levels. The contingency for payment of
$0.3 of additional consideration was met during the first quarter of 2000 and was recorded as additi0nal goodwill. All addi-
tional payments are payable in cash and will be recorded as additional goodwill when the contingencies for payment have
been met. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segment.

On September 16, 1999, the Company acquired Inspec Mining Chemicals S.A. from Laporte plc for $25.1, net of $0.8 cash
received. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $19.0, which will be amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The acquisition, which included two manufacturing operations and a
research and development center located in Chile, was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial Process Chemicals
segment.

On October 29, 1999, the Company acquired the amino coatings resins business of BIP Limited for approximately $37.2 in
cash plus future consideration with a value equivalent to approximately $8.3. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired by $36.7, which will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The
acquired business was integrated into the Company’s Performance Products segment. BIP will retain its manufacturing plant
in Oldbury, United Kingdom, where it will continue to manufacture certain amino coatings resins for Cytec for at least one year.

All four acquisitions have been recorded under the purchase method of accounting with the purchase prices allocated to the
assets received and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values. The results of operations for the acquired busi-
nesses are included from the dates of acquisition in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts recorded as excesses of
the purchase price over the identifiable assets acquired (“goodwill”) are included in Acquisition Intangibles in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization, totaled $343.9 at December 31, 1999. Consolidated
results of operations for 1999 or 1998 would not have been materially different if any of the acquisitions had occurred on
January 1, 1998. Accordingly, pro forma sales, net earnings and earnings per share disclosures have not been provided. 

On January 21, 1999, the Company sold substantially all of the assets of its engineered molding compounds business,
excluding land, buildings and one product line to Rogers Corporation of Manchester, Connecticut, for $4.3.
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During 1998 the Company completed the following acquisition and disposition transactions:
On June 24, 1998, the Company acquired assets of the OrePrep minerals processing product line (“OrePrep”) from Baker

Petrolite Corporation for approximately $9.0. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by
$8.3. The acquired product line was integrated into the Company’s Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segment.

On July 31, 1998, the Company purchased from Dyno Industrier ASA of Oslo, Norway, Dyno’s global amino coatings resin busi-
ness, which consisted primarily of Dyno’s 50% interest in Dyno-Cytec, a European joint venture, for approximately $55.7 in cash.
The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $32.0. The acquired business was integrated
into the Company’s Performance Products segment.

On October 9, 1998, the Company acquired The American Materials & Technologies Corporation (“AMT”), a manufacturer of
advanced composite materials, in a stock transaction designed to qualify as a tax-free reorganization. In the transaction, the
Company issued from Treasury Stock 1,243,663 shares of its common stock to AMT shareholders. In addition, outstanding
options and warrants to acquire AMT stock were converted into 335,209 Cytec options and warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of $10.48 per share. The cost of the acquisition was approximately $26.8, including the shares issued, options
and warrants converted and previous shares acquired, plus the assumption of approximately $5.4 in debt. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $24.4. The acquired business was integrated into the Company’s
Specialty Materials segment. On October 26, 1998, the Company sold the assets of the AMT graphite golf shaft business for
approximately $6.2 in cash.

All three acquisitions have been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting with the purchase prices allo-
cated to the assets received and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values. The results of operations for 
the acquired businesses are included from the dates of acquisition in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts
recorded as goodwill are included in Acquisition Intangibles in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be amortized on 
a straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years. Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization, totaled $323.8 at 
December 31, 1998. Consolidated results of operations for 1998 or 1997 would not have been materially different if any of the 
acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 1997. Accordingly, pro forma sales, net earnings and earnings per share disclosures
have not been provided. 

On November 23, 1998, the Company completed the sale of its bulk molding compounds business to Bulk Molding
Compounds, Inc., of West Chicago, Illinois, for $17.0 in cash, resulting in a pretax gain of $4.4. The business acquired by Bulk
Molding Compounds, Inc., included Cytec’s manufacturing, laboratory and sales facility located at Perrysburg, Ohio. Sales for
this product line were $24.9 and $26.6 in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

During 1997 the Company completed the following acquisition and disposition transactions:
On September 30, 1997, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Fiberite, Inc. (“Fiberite”) for

$344.0. The assets acquired included all of Fiberite’s business except its satellite materials business. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired by $269.7, which is included in Acquisition Intangibles in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and which will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 40 years. The Fiberite
operations have been integrated into the Company’s Specialty Materials segment. The Fiberite acquisition was accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting. Unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for 1997, reflecting the
Fiberite acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 1997, are as follows: net sales, $1,491.1; net earnings, $111.5; and diluted
earnings per share, $2.34.

On January 31, 1997, the Company completed the sale of its acrylic fibers product line to a subsidiary of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.
(“Sterling”). The assets transferred included the Company’s plant located near Pensacola, Florida. The Company received approx-
imately $94.8 in cash and certain other consideration, including the assumption by Sterling of certain contingent and other liabil-
ities with a value of approximately $15.0. The Company recorded a pretax gain of approximately $22.3 from this transaction.

3) RESTRUCTURING OF OPERATIONS

In 1997 the Company recorded pretax restructuring charges in the amount of $38.4 related primarily to (i) restructurings at
Botlek, The Netherlands; Linden, New Jersey; Fortier, Louisiana and Willow Island, West Virginia, manufacturing sites; 
(ii) restructuring at its corporate headquarters; (iii) costs to realign its legal entity structure in Europe and (iv) redundant costs
associated with manufacturing sites after integrating Fiberite. The restructuring costs were charged to the Consolidated
Statement of Income as follows: manufacturing cost of sales, $32.6; selling and technical services, $2.2; research and process
development, $1.0 and administrative and general, $2.6. The components of the restructuring charges include: $28.6 for
employee related costs; $3.8 for fixed asset write-offs at the Company’s facility in Botlek, The Netherlands; $1.2 for plant clo-
sure costs and $4.8 for other actions. The personnel reduction primarily represents severance costs associated with the elimi-
nation of approximately 415 positions worldwide. As of December 31, 1999, approximately 361 eliminations requiring
severance payments were completed. An additional 12 eliminations from the original plan requiring severance will be substan-
tially completed by mid-year 2000.



46

As of December 31, 1999, payments and write-offs of $31.7 were made for these charges. In the fourth quarter of 1999, the
Company reduced this restructuring accrual due to incurring lower costs than expected for the shutdown of the Warner’s, 
New Jersey facility and incurring fewer personnel reductions by filling unanticipated open positions. As a result, the Company
recognized a restructuring credit of $3.0 in the Consolidated Statement of Income as follows: manufacturing cost of sales,
$2.7 and administrative and general, $0.3. At December 31, 1999, the liability to be paid was $3.7, essentially all of which is for
the remaining personnel reductions and for certain long-term payouts for employee severance, primarily in Europe. The
Company anticipates that, except for these long-term payouts, all of the remaining restructuring costs will be paid in 2000.

Also in the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $3.6, primarily related to the consolida-
tion of certain Specialty Materials manufacturing and research activities and the Fortier, Louisiana, methanol plant shutdown
and related personnel reductions. The restructuring costs were charged to the Consolidated Statement of Income as follows:
manufacturing cost of sales, $1.2; selling and technical services, $0.3; research and process development, $1.7; and adminis-
trative and general, $0.4. The components of the restructuring charges include: employee severence costs, $3.1 and shut-
down costs, $0.5. The personnel reduction primarily represents severance costs associated with the elimination of
approximately 72 positions worldwide. As of December 31, 1999, approximately 10 positions have been eliminated and the
remainder are expected to be completed by the end of 2000. Cash payments of $0.8 were made for these charges during the
fourth quarter of 1999, with a liability of $2.8 remaining as of December 31, 1999.

4) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, certain other assets, accounts payable, short-term
debt and certain other liabilities included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets approximated their fair values at
December 31, 1999 and 1998. The Company had an aggregate of $35.0 in credit potentially available for short-term uses under
three uncommitted credit facilities and a U.S. dollar equivalent of approximately $16.0 available under a foreign denominated
overdraft facility. There were no outstanding borrowings under these facilities at December 31, 1999 and $10.3 outstanding at
December 31, 1998. The fair values of long-term debt were $399.1 at December 31, 1999, and $412.2 at December 31, 1998. 

Commencing in September 1997, the Company entered into a series of rate lock agreements to hedge against the risk of an
increase in treasury rates related to the Company’s offering of $300.0 in long-term debt securities. The Company made pay-
ments aggregating approximately $11.2 to settle the rate lock agreements ($9.6 of which was paid during the first half of 1998
and the remainder in 1997), which will be amortized over the life of the 6.50% Notes, 6.75% Notes and 6.846% MandatOry Par
Put Remarketed SecuritiesSM (“MOPPRSSM”) as an increase in interest expense of such Notes. See also Note 8.

At December 31, 1999, the Company was party to four interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional value of
$82.0. Two of the swap agreements with maturity dates during 2001 have virtually offsetting terms. Another swap agreement
effectively converts variable rate interest obligations on the Company’s Credit Facility to 6.25% fixed rate obligations. The
maturity date of this swap agreement is November 1, 2001. The fourth interest rate swap agreement was entered into on 
May 14, 1999, matures in March 2008 and effectively converts $25.0 of the Company’s 6.75% fixed rate borrowings due on
March 15, 2008, to a floating rate.

At December 31, 1999, the Company had net foreign exchange contracts to purchase $6.5 of various currencies, primarily
Dutch guilders and German marks and to sell $5.8 of various currencies, primarily British pounds for U.S. dollars. The
Company also had contracts to sell Dutch guilders with a value equivalent to $13.4 for British pounds and contracts to pur-
chase Norwegian krone with a value equivalent to $4.3 for other European currencies. At December 31, 1998, the Company
had net foreign exchange contracts to purchase various currencies, principally British pounds and Dutch guilders, for $21.4
and to sell various currencies, principally Dutch guilders and German marks, for $11.3. All contracts are for periods of six
months or less. The fair values of existing foreign exchange contracts, based on exchange rates at December 31, 1999 and
1998, approximated the above contract values.

At December 31, 1999, the Company had $2.8 net natural gas forward commodity and cash-settled swap contracts outstand-
ing. At December 31, 1998, the Company had $4.6 net natural gas forward commodity contracts outstanding. Based on year-end
prices, the fair value of natural gas derivative contracts were $2.4 and $3.6 at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

In connection with the Company’s stock repurchase program, during the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company sold
an aggregate of 800,000 put options to three institutional investors in a series of private placements exempt from registration
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933. The put options entitled the holders to sell an aggregate of 800,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock to the Company at exercise prices ranging from $21.00 to $22.50 per share. During the year,
350,000 of the put options expired unexercised. The remaining 450,000 put options expire on various dates in February and
April 2000. The Company received premiums of approximately $1.2 on the sale of such put options. Subsequent to
December 31, 1999, the Company sold an additional 100,000 put options that expire in July 2000 and 100,000 put options that
expire in August 2000 at exercise prices of $23.083 per share and $23.552 per share, respectively. The Company has received
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premiums of approximately $0.2 on the sale of such put options. The put options outstanding at December 31, 1999, had exer-
cise prices that were less than the Company’s stock price as of that date. See also Note 14.

5) ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Company has a 50% interest in each of four associated companies: CYRO Industries, Criterion Catalyst, Mitsui-Cytec and
AC Molding Compounds and had a 50% interest in the former Dyno-Cytec joint venture through July 31, 1998.

The aggregate cost of investments in associated companies accounted for under the equity method was $41.8 and $40.4 at
December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Summarized financial information for the Company’s investments in associated
companies as of and for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, is as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Net sales $521.4 $583.0 $596.5
Gross profit 116.4 153.3 145.2
Net earnings 11.4 44.0 25.6

Company’s share of earnings 5.6 20.3 12.3

Current assets 280.5 270.3 308.8
Noncurrent assets 354.9 343.4 333.5

Total assets 635.4 613.7 642.3

Current liabilities 206.3 175.0 172.4
Noncurrent liabilities 126.1 127.3 172.9
Equity 303.0 311.4 297.0

Total liabilities and equity 635.4 613.7 642.3

Company’s share of equity $151.5 $155.7 $148.5

Sales to associated companies (primarily CYRO Industries) amounted to $25.2, $34.4 and $35.9 in 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. Purchases from associated companies were immaterial. 

Included in Other Assets at December 31, 1999 was a $5.0 note due January 31, 2002 from Criterion Catalyst, an associated
company. The Company has agreed to make additional loans to Criterion Catalyst up to a maximum of $50.0 if Criterion
Catalyst is not in compliance with certain covenants in its principal credit agreement.

6) INVENTORIES

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, LIFO inventories comprised approximately 66% of consolidated inventories.

1999 1998

Finished goods $ 89.0 $ 87.6
Work in progress 17.3 16.0
Raw materials and supplies 65.9 75.4

172.2 179.0
Less reduction to LIFO cost (32.7) (38.5)

Total inventories $139.5 $140.5

7) PLANTS, EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, plant, equipment and facilities consisted of the following:

1999 1998

Land and land improvements $ 39.9 $ 41.6
Buildings 167.3 167.1
Machinery and equipment 1,093.4 1,086.5
Construction in progress 52.0 67.8

Plants, equipment and facilities, at cost $1,352.6 $1,363.0

8) LONG-TERM DEBT

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, long-term debt consisted of the following: 

1999 1998

Credit Facility $103.0 $100.0
Public Debt 319.5 319.5

Long-term debt $422.5 $419.5

The weighted average interest rate on long-term debt for 1999 and 1998 was 6.77% and 6.69%, respectively.
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At December 31, 1999, the Company’s Credit Facility provided for unsecured revolving loans (“Revolving Loans”) of up to
$200.0. The Revolving Loans are available for the general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries, including,
without limitation, for purposes of making acquisitions permitted under the Credit Facility. There was $103.0 of outstanding
borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 1999. The Credit Facility, which is scheduled to mature on July 28, 2002,
contains covenants customary for such facilities. The Company was in compliance with all terms, covenants and conditions of
the Credit Facility at December 31, 1999.

On August 20, 1999, the Company replaced its prior 364-day credit facility with a new 364-day credit facility, which provides
up to $200.0 in unsecured revolving loans for general corporate purposes. Three new lenders were added while two withdrew
from the consortium of U.S. and non-U.S. banks participating in the 364-day credit facility. The 364-day credit facility matures
on August 19, 2000, and contains a one-year term-out option. The interest rate on funds borrowed floats based on the LIBOR.
There were no outstanding borrowings under the 364-day facility at December 31, 1999 and 1998.

During the first six months of 1998, the Company sold an aggregate of $320.0 principal amount of senior debt securities in
public offerings, consisting of (i) $100.0 principal amount of 6.50% Notes due March 15, 2003, (ii) $100.0 principal amount of
6.75% Notes due March 15, 2008 and (iii) $120.0 principal amount of 6.846% MOPPRSSM due May 11, 2025. The securities were
offered under the Company’s shelf registration statement, which has now been fully utilized. The Company received an aggre-
gate of approximately $322.0 in proceeds from the sales before deducting expenses associated with the sales. The proceeds
were used primarily to refinance the Fiberite Acquisition.

Except in limited circumstances, the MOPPRSSM will be subject to mandatory tender to Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, as Remarketing Dealer at 100% of the principal amount thereof, for remarketing on the Remarketing Date. The
interest rate on the MOPPRSSM from the Remarketing Date to maturity will be 5.951% plus an applicable spread. If the
Remarketing Dealer for any reason does not purchase all tendered MOPPRSSM on the Remarketing Date or elects not to remar-
ket the MOPPRS,SM the Company will be required to repurchase the MOPPRSSM from the beneficial owners thereof on the
Remarketing Date at 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest, if any.

Under the terms of the instrument most restrictive of additional borrowings by the Company, the Company’s Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock (“Series C Stock”), the Company was limited to borrowing no more than an additional $336.1 at
December 31, 1999. See Note 15.

9) ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS AND OTHER CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Company is subject to substantial costs arising out of environmental laws and regulations, which include obligations to
remove or limit the effects on the environment of the disposal or release of certain wastes or substances at various sites.
Liability for investigative, removal and remedial costs under certain federal and state laws is retroactive, strict and joint and
several. The Company is currently a party to, or otherwise involved in, legal proceedings directed at the cleanup of approxi-
mately 55 Superfund sites. Since the laws pertaining to these sites provide for joint and several liability, a governmental plain-
tiff could seek to recover all remediation costs at a waste disposal site from any of the potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”)
for such site, including the Company, despite the involvement of other PRPs. In some cases, the Company is one of several
hundred identified PRPs, while in others it is the only one or one of only a few. Generally, where there are a number of finan-
cially solvent PRPs, liability has been apportioned, or the Company believes, based on its experience with such matters, that
liability will be apportioned based on the type and amount of waste disposed by each PRP at such disposal site and the num-
ber of financially solvent PRPs. The Company is also conducting remediation at, or is otherwise responsible for, a number of
non-Superfund sites. Proceedings involving environmental matters, such as alleged discharge of chemicals or waste material
into the air, water or soil, are pending against the Company in various states. In many cases, future environmental related
expenditures cannot be quantified with a reasonable degree of accuracy. In addition, from time to time in the ordinary course
of its business, the Company is informed of, and receives inquiries with respect to, new sites which may contain environmental
contamination for which the Company may be responsible.

It is the Company’s policy to accrue and charge against earnings, environmental cleanup costs when it is probable that a lia-
bility has been incurred and an amount is reasonably estimatable. As assessments and cleanups proceed, these accruals are
reviewed periodically and adjusted, if necessary, as additional information becomes available. These accruals can change
substantially due to such factors as additional information on the nature or extent of contamination, methods of remediation
required, and other actions by governmental agencies or private parties. Cash expenditures often lag behind the period in
which an accrual is recorded by a number of years. 

In accordance with the above policies, as of December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998, the aggregate environmental related
accruals were $122.9 and $136.1, respectively. Of these amounts, the environmental related accruals included in accrued
expenses were $20.0 as of December 31, 1999, and $25.0 as of December 31, 1998, with the remainder included in other 
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noncurrent liabilities. Environmental remediation spending for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, was $18.6,
$23.8 and $26.1, respectively. All accruals have been recorded without giving effect to any possible future insurance proceeds.

While it is not feasible to predict the outcome of all pending environmental suits and claims, it is reasonably possible that
there will be a necessity for future provisions for environmental costs that, in management’s opinion, will not have a materially
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position of the Company, but could be material to the consolidated results of
operations of the Company in any one accounting period. The Company cannot estimate any additional amount of loss or
range of loss in excess of the recorded amounts. Moreover, environmental liabilities are paid over an extended period, and the
timing of such payments cannot be predicted with any confidence.

The Company is also a party to various other claims and routine litigation arising in the normal course of its business. Based
on the advice of counsel, management believes that the resolution of such claims and litigation will not have a materially
adverse effect on the financial position of the Company, but could be material to the results of operations of the Company in
any one accounting period.

Rental expense under property and equipment leases was $12.3 in 1999, $12.8 in 1998 and $11.5 in 1997. Estimated future
minimum rental expenses under property and equipment leases that have initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in
excess of one year as of December 31, 1999, are: 

Operating
Leases

2000 $11.2
2001 7.8
2002 4.3
2003 2.0
2004 0.6
Thereafter 0.5

Total minimum lease payments $26.4

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company had $11.8 and $10.9, respectively, of letters of credit outstanding for environ-
mental and insurance related matters.

10) INCOME TAXES

The income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, is based on earnings before income taxes
as follows: 

1999 1998 1997

Domestic $110.1 $154.1 $116.3
Foreign 62.9 43.8 33.4

Total $173.0 $197.9 $149.7

The components of the provision for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, are composed of the following: 

1999 1998 1997

Current:
Federal $ 4.8 $37.0 $18.6
Foreign 21.0 18.0 10.8
Other, principally state 1.0 3.4 4.3

Total $26.8 $58.4 $33.7

Deferred:
Federal $21.9 $13.2 $ 1.6
Foreign (2.3) (2.1) 0.7
Other, principally state 5.3 3.7 0.1

Total $24.9 $14.8 $ 2.4

Total income tax provision $51.7 $73.2 $36.1

Domestic and foreign earnings of consolidated companies before income taxes include all earnings derived from operations in
the respective U.S. and foreign geographic areas, whereas provisions (benefits) for income taxes include all income taxes
payable to (receivable from) U.S., foreign and other governments as applicable, regardless of the situs in which the taxable
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income (loss) is generated. The temporary differences which give rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, are as follows:

1999 1998

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for bad debts $ 2.3 $ 2.9
Employee benefit accruals 16.7 17.7
Insurance accruals 12.9 12.9
Operating accruals 20.3 19.5
Inventory 5.2 6.1
Environmental accruals 45.2 51.4
Postretirement obligations 126.8 131.5
Other 16.5 17.9

Deferred tax assets 245.9 259.9

Deferred tax liabilities:
Plants, equipment and facilities (122.7) (109.9)
Other (12.7) (14.5)

Deferred tax liabilities (135.4) (124.4)

Net deferred tax assets $ 110.5 $ 135.5 

Beginning in 1997, no provision has been made for U.S. or additional foreign taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries since the Company intends to reinvest these earnings. Foreign tax credits would be available to substantially
reduce any amount of additional U.S. tax that might be payable on these earnings in the event of distribution or sale.

The continued positive earnings trend of the Company makes it more likely than not that the Company will generate sufficient
taxable income to realize its net deferred income tax assets.

In the third quarter of 1999, the Company recognized an $8.0 reduction in income tax expense related to the utilization of addi-
tional prior years’ tax credits. Excluding the impact of this nonrecurring item, the Company’s effective tax rate for 1999 was 34.5%.

A reconciliation between the Company’s effective tax rate and the U.S. federal income tax rate is as follows: 

1999 1998 1997

Federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Research and experimental credit (1.8) – –
Prior period tax credits (4.6) – –
Valuation allowance adjustment – – (16.3)
Income subject to other than the federal income tax rate (2.6) (0.9) 0.7
State taxes, net of federal benefits 2.2 3.1 3.9
Other charges, net 1.7 (0.2) 0.8

Effective tax rate 29.9% 37.0% 24.1%
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11) RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company has defined benefit pension plans that cover employees in the United States and a number of foreign coun-
tries. The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans:

1999 1998

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at January 1 $321.5 $286.1
Service cost 10.1 10.2
Interest cost 21.8 20.9
Amendments 0.1 (3.5)
Acquisitions – 1.2
Translation difference 0.1 (0.5)
Actuarial (gain) loss (37.0) 14.7
Employee contributions 0.2 0.2
Benefits paid (11.6) (7.8)

Benefit obligation at December 31 $305.2 $321.5

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $299.4 $252.3
Actual return on plan assets 44.9 40.6
Company contributions 13.7 13.4
Employee contributions 0.2 0.2
Acquisitions – 1.2
Translation difference 0.2 (0.5)
Benefits paid (11.6) (7.8)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $346.8 $299.4

Projected benefit obligation (under) over plan assets $ (41.6) $ 22.1
Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) 41.2 (18.4)
Unrecognized prior service cost 1.4 1.3
Unrecognized net transition obligation 1.4 1.5

Accrued pension cost recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $ 2.4 $ 6.5

Assumptions as of December 31:

1999 1998 1997

Discount rate 7.75% 6.75% 7.0%
Expected return on plan assets 9.25% 9.0  % 9.0%
Rate of future compensation increase 4.0–10.0  % 3.0–10.0  % 3.0–10.0%

Net periodic pension expense includes the following components:

1999 1998 1997

Service cost $ 10.1 $ 10.2 $ 8.7
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 21.8 20.7 17.6
Expected return on plan assets (24.2) (22.1) (18.1)
Net amortization and deferral 1.8 2.7 1.1

Net periodic pension expense $ 9.5 $ 11.5 $  9.3

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumu-
lated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $12.2, $9.9 and $0, respectively, as of December 31, 1999, and $133.4,
$112.6 and $95.5, respectively, as of December 31, 1998. The prepaid benefit costs recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 were $7.2 and $10.6, respectively, and the accrued benefit liability recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 was $9.6 and $17.1, respectively.

The Company sponsors employee savings and profit sharing plans. The savings plan portion generally matches 75% of
employee contributions up to 4% of compensation. Profit sharing contributions are based on the Company’s performance and
are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Savings plan matching contributions were $4.6, $4.2 and $3.9 for 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively. Profit sharing contributions were approximately $3.6, $5.0 and $4.6 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
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12) POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

The Company sponsors postretirement and postemployment benefit plans. The postretirement plans provide medical and life
insurance benefits to retirees who meet minimum age and service requirements. The postemployment plans provide salary
continuation, disability related benefits, severance pay and continuation of health costs during the period after employment
but before retirement.

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans:

1999 1998

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at January 1 $278.6 $309.5
Service cost 1.4 1.4
Interest cost 17.3 18.5
Amendments (1.2) (17.0)
Translation difference (0.2) (0.3)
Actuarial gain (5.4) (13.5)
Employee contributions 1.0 0.9
Benefits paid (23.4) (20.9)

Benefit obligation at December 31 $268.1 $278.6

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $  46.5 $ 38.0
Actual return on plan assets 2.7 3.3
Company contributions 27.7 25.2
Employee contributions 0.9 0.9
Benefits paid (23.4) (20.9)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 54.4 $ 46.5

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation over fair value of plan assets $213.7 $232.1
Unrecognized actuarial gain 50.3 47.5
Unrecognized negative prior service cost 57.2 61.5

Accrued benefit cost $321.1 $341.1

The accrued postretirement benefit cost recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
includes $20.0 in accrued expenses and $301.1 and $321.1, respectively, in other noncurrent liabilities.

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, included the follow-
ing components: 

1999 1998 1997

Service cost $ 1.4 $ 1.4 $ 1.2
Interest cost 17.3 18.5 21.1
Expected return on plan assets (3.2) (2.7) (1.7)
Net amortization and deferral (7.8) (7.4) (5.1)
Curtailment gain – – (9.3)

Total cost $ 7.7 $ 9.8 $ 6.2

Measurement of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations (“APBO”) was based on actuarial assumptions, including
a discount rate of 7.75%, 6.75% and 7.00% at December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively and an expected return on plan
assets of 7.0% at December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997. The assumed rate of future increases in the per capita cost of health care
benefits (health care cost trend rate) is 8.0% in 2000, decreasing evenly over five years to 5.5% and remaining at that level
thereafter. The health care cost trend rate has a significant effect on the reported amounts of APBO and related expense. For
example, increasing the health care cost trend rate by one percentage point in each year would increase the APBO at
December 31, 1999, and the 1999 aggregate service and interest cost by approximately $25.0 and $1.8, respectively, and
decreasing the health care cost trend rate by one percentage point in each year would decrease the APBO at December 31,
1999 and the 1999 aggregate service and interest cost by approximately $22.7 and $1.6, respectively.
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13) OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Accrued expenses at December 31, 1999 and 1998, included the following: 

1999 1998

Pensions and other employee benefits $ 34.5 $ 34.6
Other postretirement employee benefits 20.0 20.0
Salaries and wages 9.3 11.7
Environmental 20.0 25.0
Restructuring 6.5 17.6
Other 108.1 135.0

$198.4 $243.9

Cash payments during the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, included interest of $27.8, $21.0 and $6.2, respec-
tively. Income taxes paid in 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $28.7, $40.2 and $30.4, respectively. Income taxes paid include foreign
taxes of $16.8, $13.4 and $6.6 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Included in accounts receivable at December 31, 1999 and 1998, are miscellaneous receivables of approximately $35.5 and
$37.2, respectively.

Included in interest expense, net, for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, is interest income of $2.0, $2.3
and $2.2, respectively.

Other income, net, was $9.3, $14.5 and $23.9 for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Included
in 1999 were gains of $4.5 from the sale of land, $2.2 from royalty income and $1.6 from the sale of certain product lines.
Included in 1998 were gains of $4.4 related to the sale of the bulk molding compounds product line, $3.0 of other investment
income and $3.8 on certain investments in unaffiliated companies. Included in 1997 were gains of $22.3 related to divested
product lines and charges of $9.0 for reducing the carrying amount of the Company’s subsidiary CONAP, Inc., to net realizable
value and for expected losses on certain other assets that were held for sale.

14) COMMON STOCK

The Company is authorized to issue 150 million shares of common stock with a par value of $.01 per share, of which
41,609,673 shares were outstanding at December 31, 1999. A summary of changes in common stock issued and treasury stock
for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 is presented below.

Common Treasury
Stock Stock

Balance at December 31, 1996 48,377,683 2,883,485
Purchase of treasury stock – 1,234,250
Issuance pursuant to stock option plan – (934,688)
Award of performance stock and restricted stock – (90,725)
Forfeitures and deferrals of stock awards (196,419) (47,733)

Balance at December 31, 1997 48,181,264 3,044,589
Purchase of treasury stock – 3,561,950
Issuance pursuant to stock option plan – (381,764)
Award of performance stock and restricted stock – (42,906)
Forfeitures and deferrals of stock awards (38,303) 19,632
Issuance pursuant to acquisition – (1,248,620)

Balance at December 31, 1998 48,142,961 4,952,881
Purchase of treasury stock – 1,784,045
Issuance pursuant to stock option plan – (148,693)
Award of performance stock and restricted stock – (84,903)
Forfeitures and deferrals of stock awards (10,321) 22,425
Issuance pursuant to warrant exercise – (7,745)
Adjustment to shares issued pursuant to acquisition – 4,957

Balance at December 31, 1999 48,132,640 6,522,967

On January 25, 1999, the Company announced a program to spend up to $100.0 to repurchase shares of its outstanding com-
mon stock. Through December 31, 1999, the Company had repurchased 1,784,045 shares at a cost of $42.5 under this program.
See also Note 15.

Stock Award and Incentive Plan The 1993 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the “1993 Plan”) is administered by a committee
of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”). The 1993 Plan provides for grants of a variety of awards, such as stock options
(including incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options), stock appreciation rights (including limited stock appreci-
ation rights), restricted stock (including performance shares), restricted stock units, deferred stock awards and dividend
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equivalents, deferred cash awards and interest equivalents and other stock or cash-based awards, to be made to selected
employees and independent contractors of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates at the discretion of the Committee.
In addition, automatic formula grants of restricted stock and nonqualified stock options are awarded to non-employee direc-
tors. At December 31, 1999, the Company had reserved approximately 10,217,194 shares for issuance under the 1993 Plan.

The stock option component of the 1993 Plan provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options to officers, directors
and certain key employees at 100% of the market price on the date the option was granted. Options are generally exercisable
in cumulative installments of 331⁄3% per year commencing one year after the date of grant and annually thereafter, with con-
tract lives of generally 10 years from the date of grant. 

As discussed in Note 2, in connection with the AMT acquisition, the Company issued from Treasury Stock 1,243,663 shares
of its common stock to AMT shareholders. In addition, outstanding options and warrants to acquire AMT stock were converted
into 335,209 Cytec options and warrants with a weighted average excercise price of $10.48 per share. 

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options as of December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, and changes during the
years ended on those dates is presented below.

1999 1998 1997
Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Shares under option:
Outstanding at beginning of year 5,276,173 $19.90 4,811,258 $16.30 4,896,446 $10.18
Granted 1,193,409 21.00 631,025 47.61 883,425 40.25
Issued pursuant to acquisition – – 259,308 6.18 – –
Exercised (148,693) 6.81 (381,764) 8.61 (934,688) 6.45
Forfeited (81,483) 30.30 (43,654) 41.68 (33,925) 27.64

Outstanding at end of year 6,239,406 $20.28 5,276,173 $19.90 4,811,258 $16.30

Options exercisable at end of year 4,434,989 $16.56 3,864,809 $12.48 3,220,320 $ 8.74

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 1999:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Price Exercisable Price

$ 2.77–10.00 2,223,464 4.32 $ 5.45 2,210,591 $ 5.44
11.66–22.88 1,699,812 7.63 17.79 657,169 13.55
23.31–37.75 902,400 6.51 25.41 802,763 25.17
37.87–47.32 851,605 7.15 40.18 567,845 40.19
47.81–57.44 562,125 8.08 48.13 196,621 48.12

$ 2.77–57.44 6,239,406 6.26 $20.28 4,434,989 $16.56

As provided under the 1993 Plan, the Company has also issued restricted stock and performance stock. Restricted shares are
subject to certain restrictions on ownership and transferability that lapse upon vesting. Performance share payouts are based
on the attainment of certain performance objectives related to the Company’s financial performance and may vary depending
on the degree to which the performance objectives are met. Performance shares awarded in 1997, 1998 and 1999 relate to the
1999, 2000 and 2001 performance periods, respectively. The total amount of stock-based compensation expense/(income)
recognized for restricted stock and performance stock was $1.4 in 1999, ($0.3) in 1998 and $3.0 in 1997. A summary of
restricted stock and performance stock activity is as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Outstanding awards – beginning of year 112,229 151,838 131,304
New awards granted 84,903 42,906 90,725
Shares with restrictions lapsed(1) (31,368) (53,995) (49,956)
Restricted shares forfeited (9,378) (28,520) (20,235)

Outstanding awards – end of year 156,386 112,229 151,838

Weighted average market value of new awards on award date $20.64 $47.61 $41.10

(1) Shares with restrictions lapsed in each period above include shares deferred by certain participants. The Company issued these participants
equivalent deferred stock awards that will be distributed in the form of shares of common stock, generally, following termination of employment.
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The compensation costs that have been charged against income for restricted stock and performance stock awards have been
noted above. Set forth below are the Company’s net earnings and earnings per share, presented both “as reported” and “pro
forma,” as if compensation cost had been determined consistent with the fair value provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”).

1999 1998 1997

Net earnings :
As reported $121.3 $124.7 $113.6
Pro forma 117.8 120.0  107.7

Basic earnings per share:
As reported $ 2.83 $  2.79 $  2.50
Pro forma 2.75 2.68 2.37

Diluted earnings per share:
As reported $  2.73 $  2.68 $   2.39
Pro forma 2.65 2.58 2.26

The effects of applying SFAS 123 in this pro forma disclosure are not necessarily indicative of future amounts.
The fair value of each stock option granted during 1999, 1998 and 1997 is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

1999 1998 1997

Expected life (years) 6.0 6.0 6.0
Expected volatility 43.47% 42.80% 45.66%
Expected dividend yield – – –
Risk-free interest rate 6.58% 5.50% 6.41%
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the year $10.95 $23.71 $21.52

In late 1995 the Company implemented a stock appreciation plan for all eligible active employees not eligible to participate in
the stock option program. The stock appreciation units represent a potential payout to employees, in cash, of the difference
between the base price of the Company’s stock of $20.00 per share and the lesser of the price at term, which is December 14,
2000, or $33.33. The stock appreciation units matured in 50% increments at December 14, 1997, and December 14, 1999. In
December 1996 the plan was amended to provide for the immediate payout of five hundred dollars per participant which repre-
sented 25% of the total maximum payout. A second 25% payout was made in December 1997. Should the stock price close at or
above $33.33, an immediate final payout will be made. Otherwise, a final payment will be made on December 14, 2000 provided
that the closing stock price on that day is greater than $26.66. The compensation cost related to this plan was $2.0 in 1997.

15) PREFERRED STOCK – REDEEMABLE AND NONREDEEMABLE

The Company is authorized to issue 20 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $.01 per share in one or more
classes or series with rights and privileges as adopted by the Board of Directors. As of December 17, 1993, the Company had
issued to American Cyanamid Company (“Cyanamid”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of American Home Products Corporation, 
8 million shares of preferred stock, of which only the Series C Stock remains outstanding.

The Series C Stock, of which 4,000 shares are issued and outstanding, is perpetual, has a liquidation and redemption value
of $0.1, has an annual dividend of $1.83 per share (7.32%) and is redeemable at the Company’s option under certain limited
circumstances. Shares of Series C Stock are not transferable except to a subsidiary of Cyanamid. The Series C Stock provides
Cyanamid with the right to elect one director to the Company’s Board of Directors and contains certain covenants requiring the
Company to satisfy its environmental remediation obligations, retiree health care and life insurance obligations and certain
pension contribution obligations in a timely and proper manner. It also contains certain other covenants requiring the
Company to maintain specified financial ratios and restricting the Company from taking certain actions, including paying divi-
dends on its common stock in certain circumstances, merging or consolidating or selling all or substantially all of the
Company’s assets or incurring indebtedness in violation of certain covenants, without the consent of Cyanamid as the holder
of the Series C Stock. In the event that the Company fails to comply with certain of such covenants, Cyanamid, as the holder of
the Series C Stock, will have additional rights which may include approval of the Company’s capital expenditures and in certain
more limited circumstances, appointing additional directors to the Company’s Board of Directors, which together with
Cyanamid’s existing representative, would constitute a majority of the Company’s Board of Directors.

On April 8, 1997, the Company signed an agreement with Cyanamid to revise certain of the financial covenants contained in
its Series C Stock held by Cyanamid. Under the revised terms, the Company must maintain a debt-to-equity ratio of no more
than 2-to-1 and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 3-to-1 for the average of the fixed charge coverage
ratios for the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended and must not incur more than $150.0 of debt unless the
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Company’s equity is in excess of $200.0. If the Company has more than $200.0 in equity, then it may incur additional debt as
long as its ratio of debt-to-equity is not more than 1.5-to-1. At December 31, 1999, the Company had $422.5 of debt and $505.7
of equity as defined in the Series C Stock covenant and, under the revised terms, would have the ability to incur up to an addi-
tional $336.1 in debt.

On January 22, 1999, the Company signed an agreement with Cyanamid providing that Cyanamid would irrevocably waive
certain financial covenants contained in the Series C Stock so that, in addition to restricted payments otherwise permitted
under the Series C Stock, which at December 31, 1999, were limited to $55.2, the Company may make up to $100.0 in special
restricted payments solely for the purpose of repurchasing its common stock. Through December 31, 1999, the Company had
purchased 1,784,045 shares at a cost of $42.5 under its $100.0 stock repurchase program. At December 31, 1999, $112.7 was
available for stock repurchases under the agreements with Cyanamid.

16) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following represents the reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS computations for
net earnings available for common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997:

1999 1998 1997
Per Per Per

Income Shares Share Income Shares Share Income Shares Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Net earnings $121.3 42,890,159 $2.83 $124.7 44,714,788 $2.79 $113.6 45,450,139 $2.50

Effect of dilutive securities
Options – 1,507,357 – 1,663,768 – 1,992,762
Performance/Restricted stock – 103,353 – 95,954 – 108,783
Put options – – – 3,840 – 2,132
Warrants – 4,395 – 1,763 – –
Diluted EPS

Net earnings $121.3 44,505,264 $2.73 $124.7 46,480,113 $2.68 $113.6 47,553,816 $2.39

At December 31, 1999, there were 2,370,660 options and 61,960 warrants outstanding with weighted average exercise prices
of $35.95 and $28.41, respectively, that were excluded from the above calculation because their inclusion would have had an
antidilutive effect on EPS.

17) OPERATIONS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREAS 

Business Segments The Company has four reportable segments: Water and Industrial Process Chemicals, Performance Products,
Specialty Materials and Building Block Chemicals.

The Water and Industrial Process Chemicals segment produces water treating, mining, paper and phosphine chemicals that
are used mainly in water and wastewater treatment, mineral processing and separation and paper manufacturing. The
Performance Products segment produces specialty resins, surfactants and specialty monomers and polymer additives that are
used primarily in coatings, adhesives and plastics applications. The Specialty Materials segment manufactures and sells aero-
space materials that are used mainly in commercial and military aviation and launch vehicles, automobiles, recreational prod-
ucts, satellites and aircraft brakes. The segment also includes the Bulk and Engineered Molding Compounds businesses, which,
except for one minor product line, have since been divested in 1997 and 1998, respectively. The Building Block Chemicals seg-
ment manufactures acrylonitrile, acrylamide, ammonia, hydrocyanic acid, melamine and sulfuric acid. These chemicals are used
in the manufacture of many of the Company’s other products with the remainder sold to third parties. Internal usage is not
reflected in net sales of Building Block Chemicals. 

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. All intersegment sales prices are cost based. The Company evaluates the performance of its operating
segments based on earnings from operations of the respective segment.
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Summarized segment information for the years 1999, 1998 and 1997 is as follows:

Water and
Industrial Building

Process Performance Specialty Block Total
Chemicals Products Materials Chemicals Segments

1999
Net sales to external customers $372.8 $442.4 $434.5 $162.8 $1,412.5
Intersegment net sales – – – 42.0 42.0

Total net sales 372.8 442.4 434.5 204.8 1,454.5
Earnings from operations 44.0 54.9 85.3 6.8 191.0
Percentage of sales 11.8% 12.4% 19.6% 3.3% 13.1%
Total assets 267.3 436.1 494.4 245.1 1,442.9
Capital expenditures 19.0 18.8 13.9 20.0 71.7
Depreciation and amortization 18.3 30.5 17.7 27.0 93.5

1998
Net sales to external customers $349.4 $403.4 $492.2 $199.3 $1,444.3
Intersegment net sales – – – 38.4 38.4

Total net sales 349.4 403.4 492.2 237.7 1,482.7
Earnings from operations 34.1 44.2 81.0 35.7 195.0
Percentage of sales 9.8% 11.0% 16.5% 15.0% 13.2%
Total assets 220.4 411.2 536.0 247.7 1,415.3
Capital expenditures 28.1 48.6 10.2 16.9 103.8
Depreciation and amortization 17.5 24.3 18.7 26.7 87.2

1997
Net sales to external customers $351.3 $395.1 $264.3 $265.3 $1,276.0
Intersegment net sales – – – 48.4 48.4

Total net sales 351.3 395.1 264.3 313.7 1,324.4
Earnings from operations 29.1 42.9 45.1 47.3 164.4
Percentage of sales 8.3% 10.9% 17.1% 15.1% 12.4%
Total assets 188.7 324.4 530.4 254.8 1,298.3
Capital expenditures 28.1 41.5 6.1 15.7 91.4
Depreciation and amortization 16.5 24.1 6.2 26.6 73.4

The following table provides a reconciliation of selected segment information to corresponding amounts contained in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements:

1999 1998 1997

Net sales:
Net sales from reportable segments $1,454.5 $1,482.7 $1,324.4
Other revenues – 0.2 14.6
Elimination of intersegment revenue (42.0) (38.4) (48.4)

Total consolidated net sales $1,412.5 $1,444.5 $1,290.6

Earnings from operations:
Earnings from reportable segments $ 191.0 $ 195.0 $ 164.4
Corporate unallocated (6.0) (9.5) (45.2)

Total consolidated earnings from operations $ 185.0 $ 185.5 $ 119.2

Total assets:
Assets from reportable segments $1,442.9 $1,415.3
Other assets 317.0 315.3

Total consolidated assets $1,759.9 $1,730.6
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Operations by Geographic Areas Net sales to unaffiliated customers presented below are based upon the sales destination
that is consistent with management’s view of the business. U.S. exports included in net sales are based upon the sales desti-
nation and represent direct sales of U.S.-based entities to unaffiliated customers outside of the United States. Earnings from
operations are also based upon destination and consist of total net sales less operating expenses. Identifiable assets are
those assets used in the Company’s operations in each geographic area. Unallocated assets are primarily miscellaneous
receivables, construction in progress and cash and cash equivalents.

1999 1998 1997

Net sales
United States $ 799.9 $ 890.6 $ 782.6
Other Americas 138.5 117.8 117.7
Asia/Pacific Rim 151.1 134.6 142.5
Europe, Mideast, Africa 323.0 301.5 247.8

Total $1,412.5 $1,444.5 $1,290.6

U.S. exports included in net sales above
Other Americas $ 43.8 $ 38.5 $ 36.3
Asia/Pacific Rim 66.9 70.9 75.7
Europe, Mideast, Africa 42.2 43.5 32.9

Total $ 152.9 $ 152.9 $ 144.9

Earnings from operations(1)
United States $ 88.9 $ 109.0 $ 75.0
Other Americas 26.6 18.8 17.2
Asia/Pacific Rim 12.7 12.4 11.9
Europe, Mideast, Africa 56.8 45.3 15.1

Total $ 185.0 $ 185.5 $ 119.2

Identifiable assets
United States $ 958.8 $ 943.9
Other Americas 144.2 106.2
Asia/Pacific Rim 30.2 23.3
Europe, Mideast, Africa 204.7 191.3

Total $1,337.9 $1,264.7

Investment in associated companies 146.4 147.4
Unallocated assets 275.6 318.5

Total assets $1,759.9 $1,730.6

(1) Earnings from operations in 1997 includes restructuring and other charges of $26.4 and $16.0 in the United States and Europe, respectively.

Major Customers Sales to Boeing Company and its subcontractors for commercial and military aerospace and other compo-
nents were approximately $176.5 or 12.5% of consolidated net sales in 1999 and approximately $200.0 or 13.8% of consoli-
dated net sales in 1998. Sales to Boeing Company and subcontractors are included in the Specialty Materials operating
segment. Loss of sales to Boeing Company and subcontractors could have a material impact on the Company’s financial results. 
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Your management has prepared and is responsible for the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. These state-
ments have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances and
necessarily include some amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments. All financial information in this annual
report is consistent with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company’s accounting systems include internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of
its financial records and the proper safeguarding and use of its assets. Such controls are based on established policies and
procedures and are implemented by trained, skilled personnel with an appropriate segregation of duties. The internal controls
are complemented by the Company’s internal auditor function which conducts regular and extensive internal audits. 

The Company’s independent auditors, KPMG LLP, have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements. They have indicated
in their report that their audits were conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

The Board of Directors exercises its responsibility for these Consolidated Financial Statements through its Audit Committee,
composed solely of nonmanagement directors, which meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the
independent auditors to review internal accounting control, auditing and financial reporting matters. The independent audi-
tors and representatives of the internal auditor function have full and free access to the Audit Committee.

David Lilley James P. Cronin
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

West Paterson, New Jersey
January 24, 2000

independent auditors’ report

The Board of Directors and Stockholders, 
Cytec Industries Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cytec Industries Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 1999. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cytec Industries Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Short Hills, New Jersey
January 24, 2000

management statement
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(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

1999
Net sales $355.3 $359.1 $344.0 $354.1 $1,412.5
Gross profit(1) 105.3 112.1 107.7 116.6 441.7
Net earnings 28.2 28.0 35.2 29.9 121.3
Earnings per common share(2)

Basic $ .65 $ .65 $ .82 $ .71 $ 2.83
Diluted $ .63 $ .63 $ .79 $ .68 $ 2.73

1998
Net sales $368.2 $365.8 $358.1 $352.4 $1,444.5
Gross profit(1) 109.7 115.2 105.0 108.0 437.9
Net earnings 31.2 34.5 27.0 32.0 124.7
Earnings per common share(2)

Basic $ .69 $ .76 $ .61 $ .73 $ 2.79
Diluted $ .66 $ .73 $ .59 $ .71 $ 2.68

(1) Gross profit is derived by subtracting manufacturing cost of sales from net sales.
(2) The sum of the quarters may not equal the full year basic and diluted earnings per share since each period is calculated separately.

quarterly high and low stock prices

Cytec’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CYT. At January 31, 2000, there were
approximately 15,594 holders of record. The high and low closing stock prices for each quarter during 1999 and 1998, were:

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q

1999
High $2613⁄16 $311⁄2 $2915⁄16 $28
Low 20 213⁄8 213⁄4 213⁄8

1998
High $551⁄16 $5815⁄16 $451⁄8 $275⁄8

Low 451⁄26 4115⁄16 157⁄8 151⁄8

The Company has not paid a cash dividend on its common stock and does not expect to pay one in the foreseeable future.

quarterly data
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five-year summary

(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Statements of income data:
Net sales $1,412.5 $1,444.5 $1,290.6 $1,259.6 $1,260.1
Manufacturing cost of sales 970.8 1,006.6 930.9 898.1 912.2
Research and process development 43.8 42.9 44.7 40.2 44.2
Other operating expenses 212.9 209.5 195.8 186.1 181.6
Earnings from operations 185.0 185.5 119.2(3) 135.2 122.1
Other income (expense), net 9.3 14.5(2) 23.9(4) 9.0 4.6
Equity in earnings of associated companies 5.6 20.3 12.3 24.8 24.6
Interest income (expense), net (26.9) (22.4) (5.7) (2.1) 5.4
Income tax provision (benefit) 51.7(1) 73.2 36.1(5) 66.8 (125.5)(6)

Net earnings 121.3 124.7 113.6 100.1 282.2
Dividends on preferred stock – – – – (10.7)
Excess of repurchase price over related book value 

of Series A Stock and Series B Stock – – – – (195.2)
Net earnings available for common stockholders $ 121.3 $ 124.7 $ 113.6 $ 100.1 $ 76.3
Net earnings per common share

Basic $ 2.83 $ 2.79 $ 2.50 $ 2.13 $ 1.98
Diluted $ 2.73 $ 2.68 $ 2.39 $ 2.03 $ 1.50

Other data (At end of period, 
unless otherwise noted):

Additions to plants, equipment and 
facilities (Annual) $      77.4 $ 103.8 $ 91.4 $ 72.5 $ 97.2

Current assets 491.1 477.6 452.8 416.3 404.0
Current liabilities 366.1 394.4 375.0 312.8 317.7
Working capital 125.0 83.2 77.8 103.5 86.3
Plants, equipment and facilities 1,352.6 1,363.0 1,278.0 1,339.7 1,317.2
Net depreciated cost 655.7 667.5 629.7 582.2 605.7
Total assets 1,759.9 1,730.6 1,614.1 1,261.1 1,293.8
Long-term debt 422.5 419.5 324.0 89.0 66.0
Other noncurrent liabilities 465.5 485.7 527.7 544.9 567.2
Total stockholders’ equity 505.8 431.0 387.4 314.4 342.9

(1) Includes a credit of $8.0 related to the utilization of prior years’ tax credits.
(2) Includes a gain of $4.4 related to the sale of the bulk molding compounds product line in the fourth quarter of 1998.
(3) Includes restructuring and other charges of $18.6 and $23.8 recorded in the first and fourth quarters of 1997 respectively.
(4) Includes a gain of $22.3 related primarily to the sale of the acrylic fibers product line in the first quarter of 1997. In addition to the charges
discussed in Note 3 above, charges of $9.0 were recorded in the fourth quarter of 1997 to reduce the carrying amount of certain assets.
(5) Includes the reversal of the remaining $24.4 of a previously established tax valuation allowance (see Note 6 below) in the fourth quarter of 1997.
(6) Includes the reversal of $193.0 of a previously established tax valuation allowance in the fourth quarter of 1995.
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stock transfer agent and registrar

ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C.
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, NJ 07606-1915
800-851-9677
Website: www.chasemellon.com

independent auditors

KPMG LLP
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway
Short Hills, NJ 07078

sec forms 10-k and 10-q

Copies of Cytec Industries Inc. SEC Forms 10-K and 10-Q,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, are
available without charge to stockholders upon request.
Copies of exhibits attached to Forms 10-K and 10-Q will
be made available at a charge. Requests should be made by
writing to the Investor Relations department at Cytec’s
corporate headquarters or by calling Cytec’s Investor
Relations at: 1-800-44-CYTEC

corporate headquarters

Cytec Industries Inc.
Five Garret Mountain Plaza
West Paterson, NJ 07424
973-357-3100

Website: www.cytec.com

corporate information



www.cytec .com

to learn more about cytec’s  products,  investor rel ations,  employment
opportunities,  news relea ses,  and other information,  visit  our website.
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